

THE SKY IS FALLING:

Disaster Mitigation, Management, and Media regarding the Asteroid Hazard

By

ROBERT PECKYNO

Bachelor of Science, Middle Tennessee State University, 1992

Final Project Submitted to the Graduate Faculty

of the

University of North Dakota

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Masters of Science in Space Studies

Grand Forks, North Dakota

August 2004 This research project, submitted by Robert S. Peckyno in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Space Studies from the University of North Dakota, has been read by the Faculty Advisor under whom the work has been done and is hereby approved.

Faculty Advisor, Dr. Paul S. Hardersen

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS	III
LIST OF FIGURES	IV
ABSTRACT	V
PART I – THE ASTEROID HAZARD AND PUBLIC SAFETY	7
THE THREAT: ARE YOU AT RISK?	7
A Brief Overview	6
PUBLIC PERCEPTION OF RISK	9
THE VALUE OF WARNING	11
THE CONFUSION AND THE COST	14
THE INFORMATION CHAIN	16
FORECASTS, IMPACTS AND WARNINGS	18
Media and Asteroid News	22
The Case Studies	25
1950DA – Armageddon 2880?	25
1997XF11 – Apocalypse Could Be Just 30 Years Away	27
1999AN10 – On Potential Collision Course with Earth, No One is Willing to Inform the Public	31
2002EM7 – Whew! Stealth Asteroid Nearly Blindsides Earth	34
2002NT7 – The Most Threatening Object in the History of Asteroid Detection	36
2003QQ47 – Asteroid Update: End of World on Hold	39
2004ASI – A Killer Asteroid Didn't Collide with Earth Last Month	41
2004FH – A Definite Miss	47
PROBLEM SUMMARY	49
PART II - RESOURCES AND CAPABILITIES	50
SIMILARITIES BETWEEN NATURAL HAZARDS	50
EXISTENT CAPABILITIES	52
National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA)	53
The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA)	54
The National Weather Service (NWS)	57
The United States Geological Survey (USGS)	58
The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)	62
United States Department of Defense (DoD)	63
United Nations and Multi-national Perspectives	65
International Astronomical Union / Minor Planet Center	67
Spaceguard UK	68
	69
United Nations (UN) and Disaster Risk Reduction	70
PART III - OPTIONS AND CONCLUSIONS	72
THREE MITIGATION MODES	72
Six Steps Towards a Safer Future	73
APPENDIX A – THE RICHTER AND MERCELLI EARTHQUAKE SCALES	82
REFERENCES	83

List of Figures

Figure 1: This map shows the position of all known asteroids (as of 2001)	vi
Figure 2: The destruction Template from the 1908 Tunguska event superimposed over London.	4
Figure 3: The Bayeax Tapestry (Halley's Comet Highlighted in Red)	6
Figure 4: The Torino Scale	
Figure 5: Asteroid 2004 FH orbital trajectory.	
Figure 6: The Saffir-Simpson Hurricane Scale	
Figure 7: FEMA Disaster States of Involvement	
Figure 8: Leading Observing Programs	66
Figure 9: NEA's Discovered by Site	66

Abstract

From the dust grains that create "shooting stars" to the asteroid that wiped out the dinosaurs, the Earth orbits in a cosmic shooting gallery [Figure 1]. Scientists have begun to recognize the nature of these space born hazards and the impact that they have had on the history of this, and perhaps all, planets. In an attempt to quantify the actual danger to civilization and the planet, researchers have been searching the heavens for objects that are considered "Earth Approachers" – passing within or near the orbit of the Moon. As the number of potentially hazardous objects discovered increases, there has been a parallel increase in media and Hollywood interest. Consequently, the general public is progressively becoming more aware of this hazard from the skies. Unfortunately, depictions and reporting of these discoveries often do not accurately portray the hazard. This has lead to both public and policymaker confusion and, in some cases, a subsequent loss of scientific credibility. While the fault for this confusion is often blamed on both the media and the scientists, the core of this problem lies in a lack of clear and coherent Part one of this paper will examine the hazard itself from the scientists' policy. investigations to the public's perception of risk. As the prime creators of public perception, mass media is also investigated for their role as an educator and resource in the event of an actual hazard. Finally, the interaction between these often-competing forces and the asteroid hazard are examined through a series of case studies.

Asteroids are a natural hazard. While unique in origin, the manifestations of an impact can resemble other known Earth-based hazards including earthquakes, tsunamis, and nuclear explosions. By taking advantage of existing infrastructures and policies, asteroids can be planned for and managed in a similar manner as other natural hazards. Part two of this project examines the hazard from a disaster management perspective – looking at the relevant policies and programs that currently exist for other natural hazards. Effective disaster management plans can be implemented using existing resources to provide coordination between the media, the scientific community, and disaster relief agencies ultimately increasing public safety.

Finally, in part three, six specific expert recommendations for implementation are examined to provide a roadmap towards the establishment of a coherent asteroid hazard policy and disaster relief program.



Figure 1: This map shows the position of all known asteroids (as of 2001). Red and yellow objects are potentially hazardous to Earth. The green dots represent asteroids that currently do not cross Earth's orbit.¹

PART I – The Asteroid Hazard and Public Safety

And there shall be terrors and great signs shall there be from heaven.²

The Threat: Are you at risk?

The last ten years have seen a growing awareness of the impact hazard, slowly passing from the fantasy realm towards a scientifically researchable public safety problem. While several policy-focusing events have helped to push this process forward, perhaps the most dramatic was on July 16, 1994, when 21 chunks of the fragmented Comet P/Shoemaker-Levy 9 plowed into the Jupiter, creating impact scars larger than our entire Yet, even after that dramatic occurrence, acceptance that global geophysical planet. events such as asteroid or comet impacts constitute normal if infrequent behavior, in geological terms, is still a struggle.³ However, experts agree that an object from space will one day impact with Earth and while the odds are very slim that it will happen in any given vear or century,⁴ statistically, it is an eventual certainty. It could come next year, or not for a million years. Consequently, governments want to know whether, against the odds, our generation will need to prepare to defend the planet from this threat. Scientists have therefore shifted from an emphasis on understanding the probabilities to a straightforward program to find the potentially threatening asteroids and compute their orbits, one at a time, to see if any will hit Earth.⁵

At the request of the United States Congress, the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) has instituted a program to dramatically increase the detection rate of Earth-crossing objects known as the Spaceguard survey. The NASA Spaceguard survey is a ten-year program aimed at discovering 90% of the one kilometer or above sized Near Earth Objects (NEOs) by 2008. The one-kilometer size limit corresponds to the minimum mass (several tens of billions of tons) of an impacting body needed to produce global consequences (resulting in a ground burst explosion with energy in the vicinity of a million megatons of TNT).⁶ As of July 11, 2004, 2921 NEOs have been discovered. 720 of these NEOs are asteroids with a diameter of approximately 1 kilometer or larger. Also, 616 of these NEOs have been classified as Potentially Hazardous Asteroids (PHAs).⁷

Of these, only 339 objects have good quality (well defined) orbits.⁸ In these 2600 objects, there are 1171 Amor asteroids (Earth-approaching NEAs with orbits exterior to Earth's but interior to Mars'), 1226 Apollo asteroids (Earth-crossing NEAs with semi-major axes larger than Earth's), and 203 Aten asteroids (Earth-crossing NEOs with semi-major axes smaller than Earth's).⁹

Perhaps more worrisome than these km-scale 'planet killers' are larger meteoroids, from meters to hundreds of meters across, but which are more numerous and harder to track than those being searched for by the Spaceguard Survey. Impact rates and consequences vary enormously across this broad size range and due to varied compositions, but such objects share several general traits:

- (a) Whether they explode in the atmosphere, on the ground, or in an ocean, they can have devastating consequences for people proximate to (or occasionally quite far from) the impact site;
- (b) They are mostly too small to be readily detected or tracked by existing telescopic programs; and
- (c) Their impacts are too infrequent to be witnessed and studied in detail by scientists, so their nature and effects are not yet well characterized. Yet, they are significantly more likely to happen than a km-scale impact.¹⁰
- (d) It is estimated that there are perhaps 100,000 to 1,000,000 undiscovered asteroids on similar Earth crossing orbits.¹¹

Thus scientific uncertainties are greatest for just those objects whose sizes and impact frequencies should be of greatest practical concern to public officials. The smallest NEO discovered before its closest approach to Earth was 2003 SQ222 (less than 30 meters in diameter) and is thought to be one of approximately 3,000 NEOs that pass closer than the Moon every year but are not detected.¹² Some of these objects don't miss. Nearly every year, objects pass thorough the atmosphere and reach the ground. In fact, within hours of 2003 SQ222's closest approach, a fireball streaked through the sky over India "turning night into day" injuring three people.¹³ Two 11 pounds pieces were recovered from the impact site.¹⁴

While one might expect a stronger media interest in these actual impact events, of the 29 documented impacts that occurred between 1990 and 2000, over 90% happened in or over uninhabited parts of the world.¹⁵ Since large parts of the world are uninhabited or sparsely populated, the odds are high that any impact will take place over or in a remote region. However, NEOs do not discriminate – by definition, all parts of the world are equally vulnerable to this hazard. It is only a matter of time before one of these smaller bodies impacts a major city causing extensive damage [Figure 2]. Currently, it is very unlikely that astronomers will discover a "small" (~200 m) impactor in advance.¹⁶ Accordingly, it will also likely be impossible to issue any relevant public warning.¹⁷ As stated best by 22-year NASA veteran and author James Oberg in his July 23, 1998 presentation at the United States Space Command's Futures Focus Day Symposium, "For a future asteroid impact, given our current level of insight into the situation in space, the expected warning time before impact will be zero. Well, say, five or six seconds, since there will be a bright flash that a few people will notice before being pulverized."¹⁸

Whether large or small, it is guaranteed that one-day astronomers will detect a NEO that is on a collision course with Earth and when it happens, it will be unprecedented. Worse yet, one day an unpredicted object will impact a major metropolitan area with no warning at all. This first impact crisis will confront governments, public safety organizations, and relief agencies with considerable social, technological, and managerial challenges¹⁹ as there are no established policies in place, no chain of command, no hierarchy of responsibility - not even a set phone number to call in the event of a discovery. It is unlikely that any ad hoc organization created in the final moments of an unprecedented international disaster will be capable of adequately responding to the public safety crisis. Yet, with minimal expenditures towards training and organizational planning, the shortterm toll of an impact disaster can be lessened while actual mitigation options are researched and implemented incrementally.



Figure 2: The destruction Template from the 1908 Tunguska event superimposed over London.²⁰

Even a small impact, due to its random and "terrorizing" nature, will stir up public anxieties and likely to be blown out of proportion by the mass media. They will blame their governments, space agencies, and astronomers for failing to protect them from this cosmic disaster.²¹ Many victims may well ask, "Why wasn't something done?"²² While the public may give policymakers wider latitude with natural disasters, similar post-disaster pressure can be expected if negligence is suspected. After the disastrous earthquake in Bam, Iran, the mayor stated, "Despite several tremors and warning signs, the authorities did not issue warnings, did not make any preparations, and instead allowed 50,000 people to perish."²³ In most nations, it is unlikely that politicians would last long in the face of such perceived negligence.

As with any potential national hazard, "governments and other standard-setting organizations...must define a rational level of acceptable or tolerable risk"²⁴ for low probability/ high consequence events. One option would be to use the "Tolerability of Risk" (ToR) standpoint developed to assess nuclear reactor safety and serious, but rare, industrial accidents or environmental disasters. The concept is that if the risk is above some national limit (which depends, for example, on the likely number of fatalities), and therefore "intolerable", then changes are forced on the operator to make the probability of an accident per unit time less likely, and therefore the risk more tolerable.²⁵ In nuclear reactor design, the level of intolerability is set at one event per 100,000 years (per reactor), while the limit of tolerability is sometimes set as low as one event per 10 million years.²⁶ Viewed from this perspective, there is no question that the NEO hazard is

significant, or, to put it another way: if NEOs were a business, they would not be allowed to operate!²⁷

A Brief Overview

The English derivation of the word "disaster" is from the combination of the Latin terms "dis," meaning "evil" and "astro," meaning star -- or "bad star."²⁸ This likely evolved from comets. Historically, comets have been interpreted, by the superstitious and/or uninformed, as bad omens or bad stars. In the *History of Nature*, first published in 77 AD, the passing of a comet was given responsibility for a host of dramatic world events.

"A fearefull starre for the most part this Comet is, and not easily explated: as it appeared by the late civile troubles when *Octavius* was Consull: as also a second time by the intestine warre of *Pompey* and *Cæsar*. And in our daies about the time that *Claudius Cæsar* was poysoned, and left the Empire to *Domitius Nero*, in the time of whose raigne and government, there was another in manner continually seene, and ever terrible."²⁹

The famous Bayeux Tapestry, which depicts Halley's comet on its 1066 return, again depicts comets as a bad omen for King Harold during the Battle of Hastings.³⁰ [Figure 3]



Figure 3: The Bayeax Tapestry³¹ (Halley's Comet Highlighted in Red)

Historical perceptions of danger from the sky have not always been based on the intangible. Dr. Jin Zhu at Beijing Astronomical Observatory has discovered at least 10 separate references to a devastating meteorite fall in 1490 AD at Qingyang, Shaanxi. All

of these described "stone from sky like rain" or "stone rain countlessly" with three describing the size and extent of the damage saying "bigger ones in about 2-2.5 Kg, smaller ones about 1-1.5 Kg, killing tens of thousand people."³²

Until recently, nearly all of these dangers in/from the sky have been attributed to the gods or higher powers of the day. This "divine" connection has paralleled other disasters. For most of history, it was traditional to view certain sudden and extraordinary physical disturbances with marked negative effects as "Acts of God."³³ Whether it was volcanic eruptions, earthquakes, floods, or tsunamis, the source of the disaster agent was placed in the supernatural domain. With the spread of more secular and nonreligious ideologies, there was also a shift to substituting nature for the supernatural.³⁴ Hence the term 'natural disaster.' So earthquakes are now the result of plate dynamics and floods are the consequence of rainfall and drainage capabilities. In either case, the belief is that something external and beyond the control of the human victims is responsible for whatever negative happened.³⁵ Unfortunately, hazard mitigation measures are rarely adopted in communities where people define disasters as either "God's will" or as inevitable natural occurrences.³⁶ In the hazard mitigation community, there is a third view.

Strictly speaking, there is no such thing as a natural disaster. There are only natural hazards, such as cyclones and earthquakes (and asteroids). The difference between a hazard and a disaster is an important one. A disaster takes place when a community is affected by a hazard (usually defined as an event that overwhelms that community's capacity to cope).³⁷ It is misnomer to talk about natural disasters as if they exist outside the actions and decisions of human beings and societies. Allowing a high density

population in flood plains, poor or non-enforced earthquake building codes, delaying evacuation from volcanic slopes, providing inadequate information or warnings about tsunamis, are far more important than the disaster agent itself in creating the casualties, property and economic losses, psychological stresses, and disruptions of everyday routines that are the essence of disasters.³⁸ If people are living in unprotected flood plains, in non-earthquake proof buildings in known seismic zones, or next to chemical plant complexes, they are creating the necessary conditions for a hazard to generate a disaster. In other words, the impact of the disaster is determined by the extent of a community's vulnerability to the hazard.³⁹ The human dimension of disasters is the result of the whole range of factors (economic, social, cultural, institutional, political, and even psychological) that shape people's lives and create the environment that they live in and their respective vulnerability.⁴⁰ However, for the asteroid hazard, this is not the case. All people living on planet Earth share a nearly equal risk of being affected by a NEO impact and even the smallest of objects that would survive through the atmosphere will overcome a community's ability to cope. For this hazard, disasters cannot be attributed to human choice, except perhaps, in the hesitance to take the hazard seriously.

Today, researchers have accepted that rocks from space can, and do, impact the Earth with potentially disastrous consequences. This was not true when the NASA Spaceguard Survey Report provided a quantitative estimate of the impact hazard and concluded that humans are as much at risk from impacts as from earthquakes and severe storms.⁴¹ Some in the media even treated this original report with derision.⁴² Even today, there is a "giggle factor" associated with claims that "the sky is falling."⁴³ Congressman Dana Rohrabacher (R-Calif), arguably one of the most influential members of the United States

Congress in matters affecting space and science, gave the keynote address at the 2004 Planetary Defense Conference comparing the general apathy about the impact hazard with public feelings about terrorism before the attacks of September 11, 2001.⁴⁴ He expressed his hope that it would not require a similar catastrophe to alert people to the need to take action to protect the planet from impacts.⁴⁵

Currently there is no known way to definitively stop an asteroid or comet found to be on a direct collision course with Earth. Further, as stated above, smaller impact events will likely happen with little or no warning. Consequently, the best current option is to work concurrently to mitigate the hazard (long-term) and educate and equip disaster relief units to be both knowledgeable and prepared for the possibility, however unlikely (short-term). In the United States, a basic reality of the decentralized federal system is that much of the authority and capacity to cope with a threat is found at the state and local levels.⁴⁶ For instance, if a terrorist attack occurs, the "first responders" will necessarily be local fire, police and rescue personnel. If an impact were to occur, the first responders will likely not have the expertise and the wherewithal to cope effectively with the disasters that will accompany an impact. Funding for programs that help educate and equip first responders to be better able to react effectively to an impact disaster is critical because they (whether trained and equipped or not) will be on the front lines and the scientists, agencies, and search programs will, at least initially, be irrelevant.⁴⁷

Public Perception of Risk

Risk communication plays a vital role in disaster reduction. Risk communication is the effort to convince people that a risk is real and describe what its characteristics are as

well as providing information on what can be done about it.⁴⁸ However, effective risk communication alone, even if it is based on sound science, does not guarantee the most appropriate behavioral response. Risk perception is a major factor in this process.⁴⁹ Policymakers, public safety officials and the general public are poorly educated regarding the asteroid hazard and fill in their knowledge gaps with perceptions garnered from magazines, television and movies that are rarely accurate.

The terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 have dramatically illustrated that public reactions to disasters vary enormously compared with the "objective" destruction, as measured by loss-of-life and property.⁵⁰ People in the United States are still reeling from terrorist attacks that killed 3000 people that still receive regular media attention (even over two years after the event), compared with the estimated 20,000 victims of the 2001 Bhuj earthquake in India⁵¹ or the over 42,000 victims of the 2003 Bam earthquake in Iran⁵², both of which barely registered in Western news media after the first day. Media coverage of anthrax attacks, which killed six people later in the autumn of 2001, overwhelmed efforts by the Centers for Disease Control to prevent (by publicizing vaccination programs for the susceptible) many of the over 30,000 deaths that would occur from the flu during the ensuing winter.⁵³ According to research in risk perception, a similarly exaggerated response may be expected from the public if even a small asteroid were to strike in the near future.⁵⁴

Compounding the problem, communication between asteroid scientists and the public -as mediated through science journalists -- has not been good.⁵⁵ Indeed, most people in the world remain wholly oblivious to the asteroid hazard and its potential manifestations. In the course of an impact prediction, concerns by an agitated public have been presented to national leaders, emergency management agencies, and military and space departments; few governments have anyone in authority that can answer such questions.⁵⁶ Without answers, the public will, again, return to perceptions. Brief "mass panic" in China in December 1989 was ascribed to a mistaken, nationally televised news story about an impending asteroid impact.⁵⁷

The impact hazard involves its own peculiar suite of uncertainties. In some ways, asteroid impacts are more reliably predictable than any other natural disaster. Using orbital mechanics, it is possible to calculate precisely when and - to some extent - where an asteroid will hit, perhaps many years or decades in advance. But that is true only once its orbit has been precisely determined, which may take months or even many years after it is first discovered.⁵⁸ In the interim, an arcane suite of uncertainties clouds the reliability of predictions, and the ongoing highly technical work is difficult for science journalists to understand or translate to the public.⁵⁹ A public that does not understand the threat is unlikely to be motivated by a warning system in the event of an actual emergency. Public information and training is probably the most important area of disaster reduction⁶⁰ and, for the impact hazard, on of the primary tangible steps that can be started immediately. However, in the current world of terrorist threats, ongoing conflicts and diseases like AIDS and SARS, it will be difficult to convince the public that the risk of asteroid and cometary impacts is worth their attention. In fact, perhaps it is not.

The Value of Warning

The social purpose of NEO search programs is to "reduce dread."⁶¹ Unfortunately, warning has little social value without an ability to mitigate.⁶² In fact, false warnings can

11

impose social costs that are not counterweighted by benefits of an informed public. For example, since the creation of the USGS Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific in 1948, Hawaii has experienced 20 warnings that have resulted in evacuations of coastal areas.⁶³ Of these 20 warnings, 15 have been considered "false" because no damaging tsunami ensued. A study conducted by the State of Hawaii after the May 1986 false alarm estimated the cost of lost business productivity to be between \$30,000,000 and \$40,000,000.⁶⁴ Even a minuscule reduction in global Gross Domestic Product (defined as the output of goods and services produced by labor and property globally) resulting from a false NEO alarm would swamp any direct benefits in public NEO hazard education.⁶⁵ In addition to the direct financial impact, false alarms also erode the credibility of an emergency management warning system⁶⁶ and the researchers behind it.

While the Spaceguard survey has been responsible for the discovery of an unprecedented number of NEOs, it has not reduced the actual risk to Earth at all. As David Tholen notes, "The risk to Earth is the same now as it was five years ago, and is the same as it will be five years from now. What changes (with additional object discoveries) is only our knowledge of the risk." ⁶⁷ This distinction was echoed by Rusty Schweickart of the B612 Foundation, who wrote "Reducing risk could only result from changing the environment for the better... not simply knowing more about it. The risk can't have changed since we haven't done anything to reduce the incidence of asteroids hitting the Earth. Our actual risk didn't change... only the accuracy of our knowledge of it. ⁶⁸ Statistically, there is a ten percent chance that another Tunguska-type event will happen this century, and several-tenths-of-a-percent chance of a giant tsunami-making impact.⁶⁹

of thousands of people, there are hundreds of more mundane but equally lethal natural disasters, like earthquakes, typhoons, and floods. The impact hazard must be considered in a context in which citizens of many nations are apprehensive about hazards associated with foods, disease, accidents, natural disasters, terrorism, and war. The ways that humans psychologically respond to such threats to their lives and well being, and the degrees to which they expect societal institutions (both governmental and private) to respond, are not directly proportional to actuarial percentages of the causes of human mortality nor to forecasts of likely economic consequences.⁷⁰ Concerns about particular hazards are often irrationally exaggerated or belittled, and they vary from year to year, affected by focusing events, media coverage, and hype.⁷¹ It might be reassuring for the public to understand that most of the seemingly frightening hazards are actually unlikely to kill them (this list includes sharks, terrorists, airline crashes, and asteroids).⁷²

On a tangible level, pinpointing the exact impact spot of a short-warning incoming NEO is difficult considering the host of variables such as composition, spin, and atmospheric interaction that can alter the impact zone and altitude. The effects of atmospheric interactions with the shape and composition of smaller impacting objects, including the important consideration of whether an object would fragment, are essentially unpredictable.⁷³ This would make it extremely difficult to pinpoint the actual impact site(s) until very soon before occurrence. It is doubtful that all of the relevant variables of an incoming NEO could be determined (and an exact impact location predicted) in time for the disaster management community to effect an evacuation. This underscores that simple orbital determination, while an important first step, is not enough to affect public safety. Until a mitigation option has been implemented, perhaps the only way to

tangibly improve public safety is through the coordination and planning of relief efforts and by establishing NEO protocols for public communication and education.

The Confusion and The Cost

It is difficult to retain the interest of a media-based society in low probability events. Regarding the NEO impact hazard, this lack of public attention is, in part, the result of a never-ending stream of disaster reports that, upon further observation, turn out to be something that would have otherwise likely escaped public attention. "Of course, we want our response to the impact threat to be part of a serious, objective approach to a considered evaluation of what the threat is," explains Clark Chapman, a planetary scientist at the Southwest Research Institute, "So we don't like the irresponsible treatment of the threat by some individuals and some news media."⁷⁴ On the other hand, Chapman noted, "Any news is good news."⁷⁵

However, the general public is not always rational when confronted with disparate reports regarding astronomical events. A relevant recent example was the passage of Comet Hale-Bopp. On November 14, 1996, an observer in Houston obtained electronic images through his telescope showing an alleged "mysterious Saturn-like object" following the comet and then speculated on a nationally syndicated radio show that it was an alien spacecraft. Despite the absurd nature of these claims, this story was picked up by several elements of the "mainstream" press resulting in astronomer, and Hale-Bopp co-discoverer, Alan Hale being bombarded throughout the following day by radio and television stations from around the country soliciting comments on the "mysterious spacecraft."⁷⁶ The "Saturn-like object" turned out to be a diffraction effect a bright 8th-

magnitude star that the comet was located next to on the night in question. In an effort to redirect the flood of inquiries he was receiving, Hale posted this explanation, along with the appropriate photographs, on the Hale-Bopp Web Homepage. This explanation apparently generated an enormous amount of discussion on the Art Bell program and elsewhere, and led to a large amount of surprisingly vicious "hate mail."⁷⁷ I have included two examples below to show that some members of the public had no interest in scientifically credible explanations.

"Methinks doth protest too much. . ." It's plain you went for the throat on this -and the response is too coordinated and powerful -- moving to insult and discredit too quickly . . . you guys are acting as weird as that comet!

"Art has integrity! If Art is withholding information, or denying it, believe that he has a very, very good reason for doing so! Trust him! He has the whole planet in mind and heart when making his decisions!"⁷⁸

While the pseudo-scientific claims surrounding Comet Hale-Bopp are amusing, the fact that claims such as these receive such widespread acceptance among large segments of the general public is not something that scientists and rationalists should dismiss lightly.⁷⁹ This serves as a glaring example of the scientific illiteracy that pervades our society and that in the event of an actual impending impact, especially without an established credible source for NEO information, it will be impossible to stem the tide of false and inaccurate information that emerges from pseudo-scientific sources – information that may gain credibility by media exposure. In an actual impact scenario, however, lives will be on the line. With other natural disasters, whether the source or basis for an announcement was scientifically 'legitimate' or not, policymakers and the general public have often responded similarly to these pseudo-predictions.⁸⁰ Without a single established source for valid information, the public and media outlets may latch onto whatever information is available and the results for public safety could be disastrous.

Current unclear and inaccurate reporting on NEOs has already undermined the credibility and trust between scientists, the media, and the general public. Good media relations are rooted in trust. Like reputation, credibility is a fragile object and once lost, it is not easily regained.⁸¹ Repeated "false" reports harm the publicly perceived credibility of scientists, decrease the apparent 'usefulness' of the NEO search project to lawmakers, and ultimately draw attention and resources away from a focus on public safety.

The Information Chain

If a 50-100 m object was found by any of the ongoing public or private observation programs, it would be uploaded to and announced by the Minor Planet Center (MPC) on the NEO Confirmation Page (NEOCP) with a rough orbital prediction to help follow-up observers find the object.⁸² Initially, the approximate size of the object would be unknown. Under normal circumstances, the MPC would receive some follow-up observations during the following 24 hours and would revise the initial prediction published on the NEOCP (even though the orbit would still be somewhat speculative). At this point, institutions around the world including many amateur astronomers -employed by no government or institution in their backyard endeavors – would help with the follow-up observations needed to pin down the newly discovered rock's actual trajectory.⁸³ Once three groups of observations are obtained, the MPC could reasonably calculate an initial orbit and would run the orbit forward for the Minor Planet Electronic Circular (MPEC) announcement of the observations, orbit, and ephemeris.⁸⁴ This first MPEC is usually issued when the MPC has three groups of observations. After another couple of days, however, there would be many additional observations and any inconsistencies would be uncovered defining the orbit even better. Within a few days, it should be pretty obvious if there is a significant impact probability.⁸⁵ Intuition would suggest that the impact probability increases progressively with every additional set of data, but this is not always the case mainly due to systematic observational errors. The evolution of impact probability during the first 100 days shows a rather erratic pattern though the situation has improved somewhat since 1997, however, since modern star catalogs based on Hipparcos results have smaller systematic errors: the 50% probability might be reached 4-5 weeks earlier."⁸⁶

One certainty is that better information exchange and coordination among relevant entities (astronomers, fledgling NEO information organizations [e.g., the Spaceguard Foundation, the British NEO Information Center, and NASA's NEO Program Office], national and international disaster management agencies, etc.) might serve to prevent some official mistakes and miscommunications.⁸⁷ Even in the most disaster-prone country, lack of data is less often a problem than a plethora of conflicting data.⁸⁸ To address this issue, NASA recently announced a new web-based asteroid monitoring system, called Sentry, to help scientists better communicate with each other about the discoveries of new, potentially threatening asteroids and the follow-up observations that typically show those asteroids to be, in fact, no threat.⁸⁹ "Objects normally appear on the Risks Page because their orbits can bring them close to the Earth's orbit and the limited number of available observations do not yet allow their trajectories to be well-enough defined," said Donald Yeomans.⁹⁰ The Sentry system, managed by NASA's Jet Propulsion Laboratory (JPL), is similar to another online database, called NEODys, developed in recent years by asteroid experts in Italy. Researchers from the two systems are cooperating to cross-check results in an effort to make both systems more effective,

Yeomans said.⁹¹ In terms of speed, while a few years ago there were delays of several days while scientists compared their orbital predictions; today these predictions are created quickly and posted on the web by the JPL and Pisa teams. Because of this open sharing of information in a public forum, continuously monitored and followed up on by amateur astronomers from around the world, it is inconceivable that a potential impact could be kept secret. A real impact prediction, even at low probability, would be known all over the world in a matter of hours.⁹² The unfortunate downside is that pseudo-scientific interpretations can be made and widely disseminated – often long before there is any credible orbital certainty.

Forecasts, Impacts and Warnings

In 1999, the NEO community developed the Torino scale [Figure 4]; a hazard index based on a zero to ten scale of rising threat-of-impact levels. The Torino scale was intended to improve definitions and communications between scientists, as well as their ability to communicate potential threats to the press and the public.⁹³ The Torino Scale ranks every NEO on a zero-to-ten basis, with zero representing the risk of impact being lower than that of a random unknown object hitting Earth in the same time frame. The Torino rankings were designed with the general public in mind, with higher values representing both a higher probability of impact and worse damage, but so far the Torino scale has been nearly nonexistent as far as the public is concerned.⁹⁴ While numerous researchers have critiqued the Torino scale and suggesting revisions, these critiques have focused on the scale's perceived technical weaknesses and neglected the central issue of its ability to inform the public in a satisfactory way.⁹⁵ Some say the Torino scale should be scrapped; mainly because it can be invoked from the early sighting of a new asteroid,

with only scant data about the object's orbital path. "It's time we got rid of it," says Brian Marsden of the Harvard-Smithsonian Center for Astrophysics in Harvard, who says the public will not take the scale seriously if all it does is generate false alarms.⁹⁶ Perhaps the definitions of the Torino Scale could be tweaked behind-the-scenes without damaging either the consistency or credibility of the scale in its public presentation.⁹⁷

	EVENTS HAVING NO LIKELY CONSEQUENCES (white)	
0.	The likelihood of a collision is zero, or well below the chance that a random object of the same size will strike the Earth within the next few decades. This designation also applies to any small object that, in the event of a collision, is unlikely to reach the Earth's surface intact.	
EVENTS MERITING CAREFUL MONITORING (green)		
1.	The chance of collision is extremely unlikely, about the same as a random object of the same size striking the Earth within the next few decades.	
EVENTS MERITING CONCERN (yellow)		
2.	A somewhat close, but not unusual encounter. Collision is very unlikely.	
3.	A close encounter, with 1% or greater chance of a collision capable of causing localized destruction.	
4.	A close encounter, with 1% or greater chance of a collision capable of causing regional devastation.	
THREATENING EVENTS (orange)		
5.	A close encounter, with a significant threat of a collision capable of causing regional devastation.	
6.	A close encounter, with a significant threat of a collision capable of causing a global catastrophe.	
7.	A close encounter, with an extremely significant threat of a collision capable of causing a global catastrophe.	
CERTAIN COLLISIONS (red)		
8.	A collision capable of causing localized destruction. Such events occur somewhere on Earth between once per 50 years and once per 1000 years.	
9.	A collision capable of causing regional devastation. Such events occur between once per 1000 years and once per 100,000 years.	
10.	A collision capable of causing a global climatic catastrophe. Such events occur once per 100,000 years, or less often.	

Figure 4: The Torino Scale

By contrast, the Palermo Scale (PTS) was created for astronomers' use. It assigns zero to any object that has the same probability of hitting Earth in a given time period that a random object would. But it also assigns negative values to objects that pose less risk than random impacts.⁹⁸ The Palermo Scale is the base-10 logarithm of the *relative risk*.

$$PS = log_{10} R.$$

The relative risk, R, is given by

$$\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{P}_{\mathrm{I}} / (\mathbf{f}_{\mathrm{B}} \times \mathbf{DT}),$$

where P_I is the impact probability of the event in question and DT is the time until the potential event, measured in years.

The annual background impact frequency,

$$f_B=0.03\times E^{\text{-}4/5}$$

is the annual probability of an impact event with energy (E, in megatons of TNT) at least as large as the event in question.

The cumulative Palermo Scale value reflects the seriousness of the entirety of detected potential collision solutions. It is the base-10 logarithm of the sum of the individual relative risk values.⁹⁹

$$PS_{cum} = \log_{10} (10^{PS1} + 10^{PS2} + 10^{PS3} + ...)$$

While providing more descriptive information to astronomers, the Palermo Scale does not necessarily provide more information to the general public in a 'frame of reference' that would be understandable. Some have argued that the Torino Scale would be more "elegant" if it were calculated more like the PTS.¹⁰⁰ In fact, there is a rough correlation between PTS values and Torino Scale values. The Torino Scale could be defined as PTS

+ 2.5 (rounded to the nearest integer, or 0 for negative values), and its values would usually not vary by one unit in the left part of the diagram, or in color in the right part.¹⁰¹

For a warning system or scale to be useful, it is imperative that early warning messages be understood by the people for whom they are issued¹⁰² regardless of background. For local people, visualization and talk tend to be more important for analyzing and transmitting knowledge – (i.e. comparing is often more important than measuring); for educated and professional people, the written word is dominant and precise and quantifiable calculation confers weight and authority on information.¹⁰³ This distinction can be loosely compared with the goals of the Torino and Palermo scales respectively. The most appropriate means of gathering and disseminating early warning information must be carefully assessed and well defined within the disaster preparedness plan.

Similar to disaster mitigation vs. disaster relief efforts, there are two pieces of asteroidrelated information that any scale needs to be able translate to the public. First, the public needs to know the odds of an actual impact (such as the Tornio or Palermo scales). Secondly, the public needs to know the extent of actual damage through a scale similar to the Richter scale. (i.e. if an impact destroyed a house, a neighborhood, Brooklyn, or New York State) There are no current scales for disseminating asteroid damage to the public beyond the rather non-specific descriptions given on levels 8-10 on the Torino Scale. After an impact has occurred, it is unlikely that the media or the public will be concerned with the probability that the impact might have occurred. Consequently, either another scale needs to be created for post-impact reporting or current scales need to be modified to translate more specific post-impact information to the public.

Media and Asteroid News

As the primary transmitters of pre and post impact information to the public, the media will be a crucial part of any NEO disaster management plan. It is important to realize that the media itself has an agenda that may or may not always be compatible with those of the science or disaster management community. Factors such as ratings and coverage costs play in to decisions on how and what to cover for a particular news program.¹⁰⁴ Before reaching the media, information is handled by a host of stakeholders, many of whom are influenced not by the objective news value of a given event but by political, professional, or commercial motives.¹⁰⁵ The media value of a particular crisis is subject to a number of filters or criteria that determines its "news value" relative to competing stories.¹⁰⁶ For example, it is unlikely that any NEO discovered on September 11, 2001 would have received the same sort of press coverage that some other NEOs have been given. Further, on both the local and national scale, electronic and print media are tuned to link audiences with advertisers. That is the ultimate goal of any media outlet. Sometimes, however, the business goals and/or political agendas of the informational and entertainment media -- whether print, TV, or internet -- often run counter to dispassionate purposes of educating and informing the public.¹⁰⁷

By their nature, science and media have different pre-dispositions that tend to compound inaccuracies in information. For instance, conceptions of objectivity differ in the two worlds. Mass communication's emphasis is on fairness; almost always there is an assumption that there is a second or opposite side to a story. Science, conversely, stresses correctness, accuracy, validity and not balance, impartiality, or neutrality.¹⁰⁸

Additionally, what is valued also differs in the two worlds. Timeliness is very important in the mass communication arena and thus a focus on the immediate. In contrast, in science, the significance of the information is much more valued. Related to this is that scientific information is never viewed (by scientists) as final or conclusive. Thus, scientists charge journalists with writing in ways as to imply more certainty than exists.¹⁰⁹ This is especially true with the asteroid hazard as information is constantly changing after an initial discovery and certainty is only developed over a lengthy period of time – one that happens on a time scale that would no longer make the story 'newsworthy' to the media reporting it.¹¹⁰ Finally, scientists try and root what they report in the context of what others have earlier found using references, footnotes, bibliographies, reviews of literature, etc., to inform users of the link between the present and past. In the media, each story is discrete, unique, and isolated. Even if a paper ran a story on directly related research a few weeks earlier, the new story rarely refers to the previous story. The earlier research is not new and therefore, not news.¹¹¹ This is important to the asteroid hazard as retractions do not exist and are rather framed in the context of new news stories that often tend to discredit researchers for making bad predictions rather than the media outlets themselves for prematurely reporting a "non-story."

Reports of possible impacts by comets or asteroids are not exactly a new thing. Edmond Halley, long before the comet that bears his name made its first predicted return, suggested that a comet might eventually strike Earth with possibly devastating results. It wouldn't be surprising if, back in 1690, a few press reports blew Halley's warning way out of proportion, and astronomers worried that their credibility would be undermined as a result.¹¹² As asteroid detection programs improve and "near misses" are more

frequently reported, the most likely aspect of the impact hazard that a public official will encounter is not the actual impact by a dangerous asteroid but (a) the prediction of a *possibility* of an impact or threatening near miss or (b) a serious mistake by professional scientists or, more probably, by the purveyors of scientific information in the media. In general, human foibles are more likely than a rare asteroid impact, but they can have *real* social and political consequences.¹¹³

Nonetheless, despite the chance for errors, asteroid watchers are committed to open sharing of results with the world.¹¹⁴ Such openness is sometimes temporarily embarrassing as when the press play up a low probability prediction, but that is far better than trying to impose secrecy.¹¹⁵ Jonathan Tate, founder and director of Spaceguard UK agrees that the unrealistic specter of doom dominates some stories. He says scientists are trapped: "Withhold information and we are accused of conspiracy. Release raw data as soon as possible and the media either add two and two to make five or accuse us of scare mongering." However, Tate said scientists who provide colorful quotes "are doing so to generate action by the government, action that is sorely lacking."¹¹⁶

For sure, even the most attentive readers may not explicitly remember all of the individual events of bad headlines about potential impacts, but repetition of such misunderstandings has a toll.¹¹⁷ David Morrison (NASA/Ames Research Center) says that on the one hand, such reports do help raise public awareness of the issue, but they also have "demeaned the credibility of astronomers in the public's eye."¹¹⁸ This is mainly due to the process of NEO orbit determination. It is the usual course of events for any potentially hazardous NEO that a warning is issued, only to be later dropped (not retracted) as the orbit is refined and the uncertainty ellipse shrinks to exclude the Earth.¹¹⁹

Because of this, it is doubtful that asteroid scares can ever be completely avoided, and "false" warning rates will, in all likelihood, surge upward with future expanded surveys. Society's response to these warnings (notwithstanding the scientific community's attempts to influence that response) may well determine the preferred scope of future NEO survey and/or mitigation efforts.¹²⁰

The Case Studies

In an effort to examine the 'current state of affairs' with regard to asteroid hazard media reporting, this section will analyze several asteroids, their discovery, the dissemination of the information, the media and public response and the perceived 'results' of the event in terms of how, if at all, it affected policy, public opinion, public safety, and scientific credibility.

<u>1950DA – Armageddon 2880?</u>

"A kilometer-size asteroid, whose whereabouts have been unknown since just after its discovery 52 years ago, has suddenly reemerged as an object that may pose a significant threat to Earth in the distant future." Astronomers at Lowell Observatory rediscovered the object, known as 1950 DA, by accident on New Year's Eve 2000, and three months later a team of radar astronomers pinged it from Goldstone, California, and Arecibo, Puerto Rico. When orbital dynamicists combined the high-precision radar tracks with the half-century-long photographic record, they realized that 1950 DA will make three close brushes with Earth in the centuries ahead.¹²¹ Integration of the orbit of asteroid (29075) 1950 DA, which is based on radar and optical measurements spanning 51 years, reveals a 20-minute interval in March 2880 when there could be a non-negligible probability of the

1-kilometer object colliding with Earth. Trajectory knowledge remains accurate until then because of extensive astrometric data and an inclined orbit geometry that reduces inplane perturbations. The approach distance uncertainty in 2880 is primarily the result of uncertainty in the long-term magnitude of the Yarkovsky Effect (accelerations arising from thermal re-radiation of solar energy absorbed by the asteroid). Those accelerations depend on the spin axis, composition, and surface properties of the asteroid, so further refining the collision probability may be possible through direct inspection by a spacecraft.¹²²

Inspired by the above information, the news media took this story and ran with it. In April 2002, headlines such as 'Armageddon 2880?' ¹²³(ABC), 'Space Menace Looms Centuries Away' (CBS) ¹²⁴ and 'Asteroid could hit Earth' (BBC) ¹²⁵ began to circulate. Lead author Jon Giorgini of NASA's Jet Propulsion Laboratory explained that he isn't trying to sound a warning bell. Instead, he hoped to get researchers thinking about how to improve predictions of asteroid collisions — and how to prevent them. "It's so far in the future that it's nothing anyone should worry about now," he said. "But it illustrates the value of understanding things sooner rather than later."¹²⁶

However, notes coauthor Steven R. Chesley of JPL's NEO Program Office (JPL NEO), "The impact risk is not the story here, because we can say almost unequivocally that it's not going to hit Earth." The real story, he says, is how having such a precise orbit has allowed dynamicists to push the realm of impact prediction so far into the future. Typically impact probabilities can't be computed reliably for more than about 100 years in advance, beyond which gravitational perturbations and other forces make it impossible to predict an object's exact location. But, Giorgini notes, "Whenever we get radar data, it reduces orbital uncertainties and opens up a huge window into the future." His team's 900-year-long prognostication was able to include such subtle and esoteric effects as the Sun's mass loss and galactic tides.¹²⁷ For the purposes of this investigation, what is unique about this case is that an event 800 years in the future, with only a 1/300 chance of occurring, was not only considered newsworthy but worthy of 'Armageddon' in the headlines while the real story (of the extent and science behind the prediction) was barely reported.

<u>1997XF11 – Apocalypse Could Be Just 30 Years Away</u>

The special interest in this object began when International Astronomical Union Circular #6837 released by Brian Marsden on March 11, 1997 estimated a miss distance of only 50,000 km in its passage near Earth on October 26, 2028. Marsden wrote in the press information sheet referred to above that "recent orbit computations indicate it is virtually certain that it will pass within the Moon's distance of the Earth a little more than 30 years from now. The chance of an actual collision is small, but one is not entirely out of the question."¹²⁸

The actual IAU Circular read:

This object, discovered by J. V. Scotti in the course of the Spacewatch program at the University of Arizona on 1997 Dec. 6 (cf. <u>MPEC 1997-Y11</u>) and with H = 17.0 recognized as one of the 108 "potentially hazardous asteroids" (PHAs), has been under observation through 1998 Mar. 4, the latest data having been obtained by P. J. Shelus with the 0.76-m reflector at the McDonald Observatory. An orbit computation from the 88-day arc appears on <u>MPEC 1998-E13</u> and MPC 31424. This nominal orbit indicates that the object will pass only 0.00031 AU from the earth on 2028 Oct. 26.73 UT! Error estimates suggest that passage within 0.002 AU is virtually certain, this figure being decidedly smaller than has been reliably predicted for generally fainter PHAs in the foreseeable future.

The following ephemeris is given in the hope that further observations will allow refinement of the 2028 miss distance; physical observations would also presumably be useful. The object will next be at opposition in Feb. 2000 at V = 19.3. There will also be an approach to a distance of 0.065 AU on 2002 Oct. 31 (V = 13.7).¹²⁹

The story was widely reported, with the following AP coverage: WASHINGTON (AP) – "An asteroid large enough to cause widespread destruction may be heading toward a 2028 collision with the Earth and will certainly pass closer to the planet than any such space object in modern times," astronomers said Wednesday. "The chance of an actual collision is small, but one is not entirely out of the question," according to a notice filed by the International Astronomical Union.¹³⁰ "It has enormous destructive potential," said Steven Maran of the American Astronomical Society, but he added it will take several more years of observations before experts are certain of its path. "It scares me. It really does," said Jack G. Hills, an asteroid specialist at the Los Alamos National Laboratory. "An object this big hitting the Earth has the potential of killing many, many people."¹³¹ The *London Times* reported in a lead article by Nigel Hawes: "Apocalypse could be just 30 years away, astronomers said."¹³² "They have identified an asteroid a mile across on a near-collision course with Earth. It is by far the most alarming object yet identified in the search for asteroids and comets with Armageddon potential."¹³³

Following this announcement several astronomers searched older photographic records to try to locate previously unrecognized observations of 1997XF11. Eleanor Helin and her colleagues from JPL soon found images taken in 1990 that permitted calculation of an improved orbit. Based on this expanded observation set, Don Yeomans and Paul Chodas, both research scientists at the JPL NEO tracking office, recalculated the orbit and found that the 2028 close approach circumstances are: Time: 2028 Oct 26.26732 (06:24 UT) +/-63 minutes; closest approach distance = 0.00638 AU = 954340 km +/- 0.00058 AU; relative velocity at closest approach = 13.914 km/s. This means that the asteroid will pass by the Earth at about twice the distance of the Moon, and that the probability of impact with Earth is effectively zero.¹³⁴

Following this confirmation, the media stories took a different turn and the credibility finger pointing began. The media reported that the handful of false alarms, in which scientists said there was a remote threat that a particular asteroid would hit Earth in a certain year, have made headlines and frightened the public.¹³⁵ Within the scientific community, it continued. "A number of people in the NEO community have issue with the way Brian handles observations and orbital predictions," said Kelly Beatty, senior editor of *Sky & Telescope* magazine and a contributor to the development of the Torino Scale.¹³⁶ But Marsden says the announcement of XF11 was the very thing that brought out the additional data that eliminated the threat. In the end, he says, the publicity helped improve NEO research. To be sure, XF11 was a catalyst for scientific discourse that eventually contributed to the adoption of the very Torino Scale that Marsden criticizes. The publicity surrounding XF11, and the confusion generated in the scientist-journalist-public communication pipeline, were key events that encouraged the NEO community to support the adoption of the Torino Scale.¹³⁷

Marsden says previous NEO announcements, regardless of their public effect, have increased awareness within the NEO community of the need to use all possible means to make additional calculations once an object has been discovered. "The public is more of a problem," Marsden says, "Because they have unfortunately received the message that astronomers make mistakes in their calculations (which is not true) and that they fight with each other (which is)."¹³⁸ This particular event highlights the need for a better and more effective mechanism for communication between the asteroid science community, the media, and the general public.

Summarizing the events, the AIAA released a position paper regarding the discovery of 1997XF11 illustrating six aspects of the asteroid impact hazard.

- (1) When astronomers carry out searches, they typically find even threatening asteroids decades to centuries before their actual impact with the Earth. If it had turned out that XF11 posed a danger to Earth in 2028, we would have had three decades to deal with this threat.
- (2) With a diameter of about a mile, XF11 is near the threshold for global disaster. The impact of an object this size with the Earth would release a million megatons of energy and would probably lead to the death of hundreds of millions of people.
- (3) Most of the asteroids that could strike the Earth and cause a global catastrophe have not yet been found. For the year 2028 (or any other year) the chances of an unknown asteroid hitting the Earth are much greater than the chances of this particular asteroid hitting.
- (4) If an unknown asteroid should hit us, we would likely have no warning at all. The first we would know of the danger is when we saw the flash of light and felt the ground shake.
- (5) At the current rate of discovery, it will take more than a century to find 90% or more of the objects this large with Earth-crossing orbits.
- (6) For better or for worse, the astronomers who carry out these searches and orbit calculations work in the public eye. The idea that a threatening asteroid could be kept secret (or that anyone would want to keep it secret) is ludicrous.¹³⁹
1999AN10 – On Potential Collision Course with Earth, No One is Willing to Inform the Public

Dr. Andrea Milani at the University of Pisa placed his findings for asteroid 1999 AN10 on a personal webpage so that other astronomers could look at the data and confirm his findings before anything was announced publicly. In it, Milani explored many possible trajectories for the giant space rock over the coming decades. Within one of these trajectories, he says, there is a *remote* possibility that the asteroid will collide with Earth — depending on another near-Earth encounter 28 years from now.¹⁴⁰ "I have duplicated many of his findings," said Paul Chodas, "the one that he is proposing could result in an impact in 2039 is extremely difficult to match and I have tried it and I can't match it exactly. But I have no reason to doubt that his calculations are correct."¹⁴¹ And thus began the saga of 1999 AN10, easily one of the most controversial and poorly-handled events in the history of asteroid science.

The story of this asteroid began when Andrea Milani and Steven R. Chesley put the following pre-publication paper on their personal webpage so that other scientists could review and attempt to duplicate and confirm their findings.

CLOSE APPROACHES OF ASTEROID 1999 AN₁₀: RESONANT AND NON-RESONANT RETURNS May 12,1999.

The Earth passes very close to the orbit of the asteroid 1999 AN_{10} twice per year, but whether or not this asteroid can have a close approach depends upon the timing of its passage across the ecliptic plane. Among the possible orbits there are some with a close approach in 2027. The period of the asteroid may be perturbed in such a way that it returns to an approach to the Earth at either of the possible encounter points. We have developed a theory which successfully predicts the 25 possible such returns up to 2040. We have also identified 6 more close approaches resulting from the cascade of successive returns. Because of this extremely chaotic behaviour there is no way to predict all possible approaches for more than a few decades after any close encounter, but the orbit will remain dangerously close to the orbit of the Earth for about 600 years.¹⁴² Unfortunately, the webpage on which it was posted was not secure and was open to the general public. The webpage was found through 'pure coincidence' by Benny Peiser, of Liverpool John Moores University, which resulted in the following story being published on CCNet the following day:

ASTEROID 1999 AN10 ON POTENTIAL COLLISION COURSE WITH EARTH IN 2039 AND NOBODY SEEMS WILLING TO INFORM THE PUBLIC

Imagine a newly discovered asteroid, some one mile in diameter, is on a potential collision course with Earth in just 40 years - and no one is telling you about it. This is exactly what is happening with asteroid 1999 AN10. By pure coincidence, I have come across a research paper by Andrea Milani, Steven R. Chesley and Giovanni B. Valsecchi on the potential risk of 1999 AN10 hitting the Earth in forty years time. Yet instead of informing the interested public about their potentially explosive findings, the authors have hidden away their results on an obscure web page.¹⁴³

There is no reason whatsoever why the findings about 1999 AN10 should not be made available to the general public - unless the findings haven't been checked for general accuracy by other NEO researchers. If, however, no such independent assessment has taken place, the data should not be in the public domain in the first place. After all, NASA is threatening researchers with the withdrawal of funding if they dare to publish such sensitive information in any other form than in a peer reviewed medium. Obviously, one's own web site can hardly be considered a peer-reviewed journal. One therefore has to wonder why such relevant information is put into the public domain in such a weird and secretive way.¹⁴⁴

Ironically, the Minor Planet Center had added 1999 AN10 to the list of "Potentially Hazardous Asteroids" on February 16, 1999, well before the Italian paper was posted on the Internet.¹⁴⁵ But apparently, even members of the asteroid community had not checked the established channels of communication. That day, the authors issued a formal letter of complaint to CCNet and Benny Peiser.

Dear Benny- We strenuously object to your characterization of our actions regarding this paper, and to your attempts to sensationalize our work. This whole thing could have been explained easily if you had contacted one of us, but that apparently does not suit your purposes. Instead you released an uninformed report filled with speculation and innuendo.¹⁴⁶

Soon, many in the asteroid community, including Richard Binzel, a professor of Earth,

Atmospheric and Planetary Sciences at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Clark

Chapman, and Michael Paine, Australian NEO researcher and advocate, were responding

to this issue in defense of the authors.

Richard Binzel wrote: "The authors are to be applauded for doing it right, that is, they are making sure their results are correct before making any public announcement, and they will provide their full analysis for scrutiny within the professional literature. The timescales involved require no immediate action, hence the weeks (or even months) required for the scientific review process to proceed is of no consequence. (*A lesson that Peiser apparently learned – see Asteroid 2004AS1*) Furthermore, there is no reason why this object should merit any extraordinary public attention as the probability falls below that for "undiscovered" objects out there."¹⁴⁷

Media coverage of the event came in two waves and as two independent stories. On April 14, 1999 the *Boston Globe* reported that 'astronomers have found an asteroid that will come quite close to Earth in a few decades, and that even has a real but minuscule possibility of an impact.' They continued to say that 'This is only the second time in history - or perhaps the first time, depending on whose analysis of last year's discovery you believe - that an asteroid has been discovered that has a small but non-zero possibility of striking the Earth within a few decades.'¹⁴⁸ Nearly a month later, after the paper was formally published, a second wave of stories hit the media. Interestingly, the second round of stories was more sensational than the first, despite confirmation at the time of a zero impact probability. The AP wire reported that, 'in the cosmic equivalent of a bullet whizzing by Earth's ear, a half-mile-wide asteroid looks as if it will come closer to smashing into our planet than any other space rock astronomers have tracked.' "It is indeed very interesting," said Paul Chodas. "We're taking it very seriously."¹⁴⁹ For the purposes of this examination, asteroid 1999 AN10 first shows that proper channels are not always adhered to, even within the scientific community, potentially leading to rumor mongering and credibility loss. Secondly, this example shows that the media may treat an asteroid story inaccurately even after the determination of a safe orbit and even if there have been previous media reports.

2002EM7 – Whew! Stealth Asteroid Nearly Blindsides Earth

"Whew! Stealth asteroid nearly blindsides Earth," read the CNN headline for asteroid 2002 EM7.¹⁵⁰ Unfortunately, this headline showed a complete lack of understanding regarding NEO search methodology and practice. Public commentators suggested that the Spaceguard Survey is inadequate because asteroid 2002 EM7 emerged unseen from the direction of the Sun (called a "blind spot") and was found only after passing by the Earth.¹⁵¹ The strategies controlling the telescopic asteroid surveys necessarily find asteroids retreating from the Earth about as often as coming toward the Earth.¹⁵² Regarding this asteroid, Clark Chapman stated that 'the implied failure of the search strategy to see 2002 EM7 as it came from the direction of the Sun is poppycock. Such reports serve to augment public anxiety about asteroids.¹⁵³

2002 EM7 is about 70-m in diameter. Every year about 100 objects of this size pass by the Earth within this distance. Most are never seen. About 1 in every 10,000 hits the Earth. (Think of the Earth as a bulls-eye inside a target with a radius of the distance that 2002 EM7 missed us by. The Earth, with a radius of 6000 km, covers about 0.00016 of

the area of that circle. Random tossing will hit the bulls-eye once every 6400 times.) You can expect an object this size to hit about once per century. An object about this size exploded above Tunguska, Siberia, in 1908, flattening trees within about 20 km of the impact site.¹⁵⁴

Chapman further added that the role of the news media in handling the impact hazard has generally not improved as scientific knowledge about the impact hazard has become more robust.¹⁵⁵ In the case of 2002 EM7, however, it was not only mainstream media that presented this misrepresentation. The headline on Space.com read "Asteroid Buzzes Earth, Highlighting Cosmic Blind Spot." The article also stated that 'the event illustrates the potential of a surprise hit by an asteroid' and that 'no amount of searching, north or south, would have spotted 2002 EM7.'¹⁵⁶ Even established science writers, who have previously covered asteroid stories, may not have a complete or accurate understanding of the problem or unique circumstances surrounding an asteroid warning. When this happens, errors are compounded a thousand-fold as the information works its way through the public having originated from an established and credible source.

Lastly, there is an implied 'failure' to find the object, yet those in the scientific community know this is not correct. Yet, had this asteroid impacted the Earth, it would have done so with only the warning that military space assets are capable of giving. If that had happened, disaster managers would not have had a plan to turn to or experience to draw from. Despite this lack of preparedness, there was no public outcry about public safety after this event showing that, despite sensational headlines, public fear has not reached the point of public action. This also highlights a role for military

involvement in NEO searches possessing both the manpower and resources necessary for

a 'last minute' warning.

2002NT7 – The Most Threatening Object in the History of Asteroid Detection

"There have been "false alarm" stories in the past about threatening asteroids, some originating in poorly informed or misguided statements made by astronomers. The general pattern has been that a warning is issued and a day or two later retracted, reflecting either improved calculations or new data or both. It is entirely normal that a very low probability prediction of impact will go to zero as more information is processed. This is not a "failure" of the system, but rather the normal working of the Spaceguard Survey and supporting dynamical calculations. However, the press sometimes portrays this as a "mistake" by astronomers. Consequently, most of us prefer to see no press coverage of such low-probability predictions. It was in this spirit that no formal announcement was made concerning 2002 NT7, since new observations are accumulating and the whole situation is likely to resolve itself within a few days."¹⁵⁷

Unfortunately, the media seems to have created the current flood of publicity surrounding NT7. Initial statements from the British press stated that 2002 NT7 was on a collision course with Earth with an impact predicted for February 1, 2019. The only qualification was that the prediction of an impact was still somewhat uncertain. There was no hint of the true situation, in which the probability of impact was at the 1-in-a-million level.¹⁵⁸

It was first seen on the night of July 5, 2002 by the Lincoln NEA Research Program (LINEAR) automated sky survey program in New Mexico. Since then astronomers worldwide have been paying close attention to it, amassing almost 200 observations in a few weeks. Benny Peiser told BBC News Online that "this asteroid has now become the most threatening object in the short history of asteroid detection".¹⁵⁹ While technically

true, the quote sounded ominous without the proper caveats, chiefly that "most threatening" was relative to other asteroids that also had very low odds of possible future impacts. Peiser's quote figured prominently at the top of the BBC story and was, it appears, excerpted to become the main theme of the Reuters and Sky News stories, as well as others that followed the next day in British newspapers.¹⁶⁰

The reason for this bold statement is that astronomers rated the object with a score of 0.06 on the Palermo technical scale (Level 1 on the Torino scale), making NT7 the first object to be given a positive value. However, even if this particular object is a Palermo Scale 0.23, the first over the background, the chances that it would really smash us are 1/100,000 and observations are still preliminary. "This is reality. But Media don't go with reality, they go with fiction, especially in the summer."¹⁶¹

As expected, however, additional observations quickly eliminated the possibility of an impact. The "all clear" for any impact in 2019 was released on July 26, 2002 and by August 1, 2002 (less than one month from discovery) continuing orbital improvements also eliminated a lower-probability impact in 2060. This progression of events reflects the normal working of the Spaceguard system. There is always an initial large uncertainty in the orbit of a newly discovered NEO, which is resolved as new observations are made.¹⁶²

Donald Yeomans, manager of JPL NEO explained, "The goal, I suppose, is to be at the same time sober, informative but not too nerdy." Various BBC reporters from different wings of the organization called him that week. "Most of the six interviews I did with

37

BBC reporters Tuesday night began with their assumption that there would be a collision," Yeomans said. "One is then forced to back up and try to explain the real situation and the fact that there is not really a story here. They didn't wish to hear that."¹⁶³ Such failures are presumably due to a combination of the inarticulateness of researchers, the poor science and math education of the public, and inappropriate hyping and sloppy journalism by news media. ¹⁶⁴ This time, however, under an agreed-upon policy of full disclosure, the blame for any misinformation sits mostly on the shoulders of the media, they say. "I think that in the end it comes down to the journalistic objectives, and, perhaps rarely, to journalistic integrity," said JPL's Steve Chesley.¹⁶⁵

Clark Chapman argued that the Torino Scale for impact risk seems to hold up well, and he suggested it should be used consistently in communicating with the public about new possibly-hazardous asteroids suggesting that astronomers should avoid references to the Palermo Scale - whose usage figured prominently in the reports about 2002 NT7. Some of those reports, Chapman says, were "confusing and inappropriate," since they stressed the fact that this was the first object ever to get a positive, greater-than-zero Palermo rating. Since the scale was barely a year old, he says, that's "like calling the Queens air crash last fall the worst transportation disaster of the century, when the century was barely a year old!" ¹⁶⁶

Scientists have started to understand that false alarms have harmed public perception of the search for NEOs and attempts at discovering the best mitigation techniques in case a crash would really happen.¹⁶⁷ There is wide divergence of opinion about what happened, much of it related to an apparent difference in press practices (and public expectations) in

the United States and UK, the two countries in which most of the media stories originated. Simply put, the British press seems to be more prone to exaggerated headlines and lead-ins, sometimes combined with a dose of humor – and the British public understands this and does not expect a high level of technical accuracy from their press. Americans generally hold science reporters to a higher standard, although alternatively, the Brits might say that Americans lack a sense of perspective and perhaps also a sense of humor.¹⁶⁸

2003QQ47 – Asteroid Update: End of World on Hold

"Asteroid update: End of world on hold" is how the CNN headline read. ¹⁶⁹ The report continued to say that the newly discovered asteroid has zero chance of colliding with Earth in 11 years, although preliminary data had suggested such a doomsday scenario was possible, astronomers said this week. New data allowed a more refined projection of the orbit of the space rock, dubbed 2003 QQ47 -- ruling out more than a dozen possible strike dates, according to the NEO Information Center. Earlier this week, the U.K.-based asteroid-monitoring center posted a Web announcement stating that there was a remote chance the asteroid would hit our planet in 2014, possibly unleashing the energy equivalent of millions of nuclear bombs."¹⁷⁰

Asteroid 2003 QQ47 was first observed on August 24, 2003 and given a one in 909,000 chance of impact on March 21, 2014. ¹⁷¹ "We have many asteroids that have residual risks," said Paul Chodas, "This particular one was of interest because it is fairly large, 1.3 kilometers [0.8 mile], and the predicted impact was only 10 years away. Combining those two factors, we raised it to some level of concern." The rock, first observed by LINEAR,

was given a rare rating of one on the Torino Scale of asteroid and comet threats for the 2014 encounter. Additional observations allowed astronomers to plot the asteroid's orbital course more precisely the Torino rating was reduced to zero by JPL as well as the NEODyS asteroid-monitoring group in Italy.¹⁷² By Tuesday evening (August 26, 2003), the risk for 2014 was eliminated. JPL said there was still a 1-in-2.2 million chance that an impact could occur sometime in the next century, but that is far below the "background risk" of a catastrophic collision in any given year.

Soon after, the UK NEO Information Center decided that this asteroid deserved special attention, and on September 2, 2003 they issued a press release calling attention to the danger of collision in 2014. Since the UK government supports the NEO Information Center, this quasi-official "prediction" was widely reported in the British press. While most stories correctly noted the very small odds of impact, they still treated this as a serious warning of a threat to Earth. The story was also reported in Europe, the United States, and Australia, but more moderately than in the UK. The result is another round of criticisms of astronomers, triggered by the NEO Information Center release (which they withdrew on September 3, 2003).¹⁷³ The reasoning behind the September 2, 2003 press release, over one week after the risk was reduced below the average background risk, is unknown. However, astronomers are so horrified by press scares over asteroids including the recent furor over QQ47 that they are toning down the scale they use to rate the threat posed by asteroids in an attempt to discourage journalists from covering potential collisions.¹⁷⁴ While journalists insist they reported the information on QQ47 accurately, astronomers feel they were misrepresented. "That was certainly much ado about nothing," said Steve Chesley. "It was like a virus solely within the realm of the

press."¹⁷⁵ This incident clearly illustrates the differing priorities of science and journalism. Further, it shows that stories are also generated from within the scientific community and officially released to the media. Without a specific set of criteria required before raising the Torino threat level, scientists will lack clarity when disseminating hazard information to the public. Perhaps MSNBC summed up the incident best by saying, "this week's alert followed the up-and-down course that is typical for observations of NEOs."¹⁷⁶

2004AS1 – A Killer Asteroid Didn't Collide with Earth Last Month...

"A killer asteroid didn't collide with Earth last month. But panicky astronomers came mighty close to waking up President Bush with a nasty message that a collision was imminent." This was the headline of a *San Francisco Chronicle* article about 2004 AS1. The article continued saying, "During a scientific meeting on NEOs under way in Southern California this week, astronomers revealed that they seriously contemplated alerting top NASA officials -- and ultimately the White House -- to the possibility that a space rock was hours away from hitting Earth in mid-January. Late the night of January 14, 2004, Steve Chesley calculated about a 1-in-4 chance that the newfound asteroid was indeed about to slam into the Earth.¹⁷⁷

The asteroid in question, bearing the temporary designation AL00667, had been discovered the previous night by LINEAR. Routine and largely automatic processing of these observations led to the posting (by the IAU-supported Minor Planet Center in Cambridge, Massachusetts) of an orbit that intersected the Earth within the next 36

hours.¹⁷⁸ Although the observations were limited and the orbit solution was highly nonunique, there initially appeared to be a distinct possibility, verified by orbital calculations carried out at the JPL NEO, of an impact in the northern hemisphere. Only a handful of astronomers (professional and amateur) were involved, and there were no scare stories in the press.¹⁷⁹

Following is Clark Chapman's account of the events:

"About 36 hours before President Bush's planned speech at NASA Headquarters on future American space policy, the LINEAR observatories in New Mexico routinely recorded four images of a moving object. Half a day later, on Tuesday, January 13, 2004, these data sets were sent (as part of the daily submission of data) to the Minor Planet Center in Cambridge, Massachusetts. Just before going to dinner, MPC researcher Tim Spahr ran the data through standard software to generate a nominal ephemeris for the new object. These are posted on the publicly accessible NEO Confirmation Page (NEOCP) so that amateur and professional asteroid astronomers around the world might be able to follow up on the LINEAR observations that night. It is through such follow-up astrometry that NEO orbits can be refined so that the object is not permanently lost. Spahr posted the ephemeris, based on LINEAR's four detections, on the NEOCP under the designation AL00667, along with ephemerides for several other recommended targets. Less than an hour later, a European amateur astronomer, Reiner Stoss, went to the NEOCP and noticed a curiosity: AL00667 was predicted to get 40 times brighter during just the next day, meaning that it was going to be six times closer to the Earth! He expressed his amazement on Yahoo's MPML (Minor Planet Mailing List) chatroom on the internet.

"Professional asteroid researcher Alan Harris happened to be monitoring the chatroom and noticed the strange posting about a "bogie" (military slang for an unidentified, potentially enemy aircraft). Indeed, he found on the MPC's web site, with no comment at all, what he recognized to be an alarming prediction. He quickly calculated that an asteroid following this nominal ephemeris would strike the Earth just one day hence. He immediately alerted several of us, including NASA Ames Research Center's David Morrison (who chairs the IAU's Working Group on NEOs) and Don Yeomans (who heads JPL NEO). His message was sent at 5:09 pm (MST, used hereafter, is the time zone of LINEAR and of the amateur astronomer who later laid this bogey to rest). "Yeomans and his associate Steve Chesley telephoned to the MPC to try to find out more about the asteroid from Spahr. Forty-five precious minutes had already elapsed since Harris' email, when all that Yeomans could report back to his colleagues was, "We've got a call into Tim Spahr to see if we can get the astrometry itself but Tim is not yet at home." About half-an-hour later, they reached Brian Marsden, director of the MPC, who was working late that evening. (Harris also alerted Marsden by email.) By policy, LINEAR and other single-night asteroid data (termed one-night-stands) are kept private by Marsden until they have been verified and linked with observations on other nights. But once contacted by Yeomans and Chesley, Marsden agreed to provide the data to the JPL researchers and did so about 20 minutes later; then, about 1 hour 45 minutes after being notified by Harris, they got to work trying to understand this anomalous asteroid. (Other asteroid orbit experts, in Arizona and Italy, later complained that they never had access to the data on AL00667.)

"The MPC faced the embarrassing fact that they had effectively made the first-ever prediction of a near-term asteroid impact without even realizing it themselves. Marsden hastily tried to fix the web page. Supported by no new observations, he posted a new, non-impacting (actually receding) trajectory, which was also consistent with the data. An hour later, Spahr -having finished dinner, gone home, logged in and discovered what was happening, and raced back to the MPC -- replaced Marsden's post with vet another trajectory, once again showing the asteroid headed toward the Earth, but this time narrowly missing an impact. None of the later postings reflected new data: Spahr and Marsden were simply frantically trying to figure out for themselves what the data meant and what was politically correct to display on their web site. With hindsight, it is clear that the highest priority should be to search for "virtual impactors" -- that is, the subset of asteroid trajectories allowed by the uncertainties in the fit to the data that would result in an impact; if no asteroid is found in the patch of sky that meets these criteria, then there is no longer a threat of impact. The second priority should be to find the NEO, wherever it might be within the spread of uncertainty, so that it isn't lost. Another priority, of course, is not to confuse, mislead, or frighten people by leaving an effective impact prediction posted on the web site (without appropriate caveats, especially for non-experts who might suddenly be alerted to this web page's existence). With hindsight, we can surely imagine better solutions than any of those implemented on the NEOCP in unplanned crisis-mode that night. But the chief blameworthy error is lack of thorough planning by the NEO community for such a contingency, not in the spur-of-the-moment decisions actually made". 180

A few very important details come from this account. First, and perhaps foremost, is that the object caught everyone completely off-guard. Secondly, no ephemeris data was known on the object. At the time it was posted to the Minor Planet Center's NEO Confirmation Page (NEOCP) with LINEAR discovery designation AL00667, this object was thought too small to be hazardous. As Spaceguard U.K. put it: "probably smaller than a bus, and would certainly never make it through the atmosphere to hit the ground." However, it turned out to be bigger than anyone had thought. JPL puts 2004 AS1's absolute magnitude at H=20.29, which by standard formula converts to a diameter of 230 to 520 meters/yards, with 295 as best guesstimate.¹⁸¹ It is now known that it ultimately passed Earth on February 16, 2004 at just over 33 lunar distances (LD) and doesn't ever come closer than 8.56 LD.¹⁸² Third, no mention was made of attempting to contact the military to confirm and follow-up on the sighting with space-based assets. Would it not be sensible to contact them before calling the President? Unfortunately, no established relationship or chain of contact exists between the scientists and the military. This situation illustrates clearly the importance and usefulness of establishing that link. Fourth, none of the later internet postings reflected new data. Yet, a decision was made regarding "what was politically correct to display on the MPC web site." In his account of the incident, Marden stated:

"I quickly verified the complaint about the impact, computed several orbits myself that would have the object receding from the earth rather than approaching, supplied the observations to the NASA colleague so that he could do some independent orbit computations (which essentially agreed with those of the MPC), contacted a few potential observers in the United States, advised my MPC colleagues that "we had a problem", and replaced the offending nominal orbit by one that was less threatening. Of course, what we now urgently needed were follow-up observations." ¹⁸³

Importantly, with data from just four observations available, the uncertainties were large. There were many possible orbits the object could be on, and the majority of them did not threaten the Earth. How did the "problem orbit" become the first one of the possibilities posted? Why then, with no further information, was it then changed?

Events reached a crescendo when Steven Chesley, a researcher at NASA's Jet Propulsion Laboratory, looked at the available data and sent an e-mail saying the asteroid had a 25% chance of striking the Earth's Northern Hemisphere in a few days. It was then that astronomers Clark Chapman and David Morrison, chair of the International Astronomical Union's Working Group on NEOs, contemplated picking up the telephone to the White House.¹⁸⁴ "That would have jumped the gun before we knew much about the object," said Brian Marsden, of the Minor Planet Center. "I find it incredible that such action was contemplated on the basis of just four observations. That is just not enough to yield a sensible orbit. "There was no need to panic as it was obvious that the situation would have been resolved, one way or another, in another hour or two."

Fortunately for all concerned, shortly after the ominous Chesley e-mail, an amateur astronomer managed to dodge the clouds and take a picture of a blank patch of sky. This was significant because if 2004 AS1 really was going to hit the Earth, it would have been in the amateur's sights. The fact that it was absent meant the rock would not strike us. But Chapman says in his presentation that if it had been cloudy, and no more observations could have been obtained at the time, he would have raised the alarm. Marsden disagrees. "If it had been cloudy and the call had been made to the President it would have been disastrous." Many astronomers recognize that a false alarm could have

brought ridicule on their profession. "They completely misread the situation," said

Benny Peiser, "There was plenty of time to get other observers on the job."¹⁸⁵

In a recent paper, Clark Chapman presented some relevant questions about this case.

"What can we learn from this case? How could there have been an official, if unmonitored and obscure, posting by the MPC based on a calculation implying a major asteroid impact the following day, without the MPC even initially realizing it? How could the data, on which the calculation was based, be kept private so that many of the world's asteroid experts could not evaluate the situation, long after the threat was being debated in a public chatroom? How could the JPL Sentry system and the parallel NEODys system in Italy have failed to post the relevant information on their own official asteroid impact web sites? Why were the LINEAR data worse than usual for this particular "one-night-stand"? Were the computer programs used by the MPC and JPL that evening truly state-of-the-art and, if not, did that contribute to the scary predictions? How could one JPL expert calculate something like 1-chance-in-four of a near-term impact disaster, when in fact the asteroid never passed within millions of miles of our planet? Just how big was the nominally calculated impacting body, where would it have hit, and how much damage might it have caused? Did this event merit the unexpectedly high value of 3 on the Torino Scale (designed to educate the public about the seriousness of an impact prediction)? How did this potentially most dramatic of all asteroid impact predictions fail to be noticed by the news media? (Indeed, a search of CNN stories for the relevant dates indicated no stories regarding this asteroid.) How close did astronomers come to issuing another false alarm, this time with the potential for embarrassing not only NASA but the White House?¹⁸⁶

David Morrison, Chair of the IAU working group on NEOs responded to these questions noting that the Spaceguard Survey was not designed to detect small asteroids a few days before collision. It does not have either the equipment or the resources to function as a warning system for imminent impacts. Its purpose is to carry out a long-term survey, with emphasis on discovering and calculating accurate orbits for asteroids larger than 1 km -- those with a possibility of triggering a global catastrophe if they collided with Earth. He continued by saying, "There should be planning at an international level of what action to take with respect to notifying governments and the public of a possible near-term impact.

This planning must recognize that it is likely that in all such cases new observations will quickly eliminate any possibility of impact rather than confirm it."¹⁸⁷ In this case, the asteroid would have impacted in 'a few days.' If hazard management needed to evacuate a large city, prepare for a possible tsunami, protect or preserve local infrastructure and house the public with only a 'few days' notice and no prior planning for this possibility, the results would have likely been disastrous.

<u>2004FH – A Definite Miss</u>

On March 18, 2004 at 5:08 PM EST a 25-m diameter space rock passed just 43,000 km from Earth - just beyond geostationary orbit. [Figure 5] It was the closest pass ever recorded. Yet, despite this record-breaking "close call," there was no slew of disaster and doom headlines. Rather, much to the credit of the scientists and media involved, the headlines were few and the reporting was not even remotely sensational. Searching every worldwide news agency, the 'scariest' headline was from the *India Times*, which read: 'Asteroid Too Close For Comfort'¹⁸⁸ – comparatively mild compared to previous headlines.



Figure 5: Asteroid 2004 FH passes about 43,000 km (26,500 miles) above the Earth's surface on March 18, 2004. Earth's gravity bends the trajectory of the asteroid by about 15 degrees. The asteroid crosses from one side of the Moon's orbit to the other in 31 hours.¹⁸⁹

Three important points of note, however, can be drawn from this event. First, within the first few sentences of the network and web news reports was a version of the following:

"The asteroid's close flyby, first spied late Monday, poses no risk, NASA astronomers stressed. "It's a guaranteed miss," said astronomer Paul Chodas."¹⁹⁰

The words 'no risk' and 'guaranteed miss' instantly turned 2004FH from a public safety news story to a news interest story. Without raising any alarms or causing panic, scientists still managed to increase public awareness, publicize their research, and promote the value of asteroid research and NEO watch programs. Secondly, neither the Torino nor Palermo scales were mentioned in any news reports or articles. If researchers and media want to educate the public on the hazard and provide a consistent method of NEO reporting, the Torino/Palermo scales will only be useful if the public understands their meaning. This can only be accomplished if both sides make an effort to include them (or any other decided upon scale) in every public report even if the value is zero. The third important point is that the rock was noticed at all. "The important thing is not that it's happening, but that we detected it," said Steve Chesley of the flyby.¹⁹¹ Notably, the discovery of an asteroid of such a small size with existing capabilities implies that, though beyond the current 1-km mandate, asteroid search programs are robust enough to continue the effort on smaller scale (and higher probability) asteroids. Overall, considering how close this asteroid came and the muted media response, this incident seems to imply that either the media no longer believes that asteroids make sensational headlines or, perhaps, that communications between NEO researchers and the media may be improving.

Problem Summary

First, there are currently no established national or international policies for the communication and dissemination of asteroid hazard information. In lieu of established policy, communication to date has been an ad hoc mix of media, science, agency, and political sub-agendas. No official source for NEO information has emerged often resulting in unclear, confusing and occasionally, contradictory information presented to the public and to policymakers. Many believe that this has also damaged the credibility of the researchers, weakened media relations and actually reduced the safety of a public that has heard too many cries of wolf that the sky is falling.

Secondly, it is only a matter of time before a small NEO approaches unannounced and airbursts or impacts near a populated center causing massive damage and loss of life. Currently, most of the current work regarding NEOs is focused on observation, however, the smaller objects that are statistically more likely to strike are rarely observed and would likely impact unannounced. If that were to happen, relief and public safety agencies (not to mention governments and media) would be utterly unprepared. Thus, it makes sense to also prepare for this possibility from a hazard mitigation standpoint. Many of the possible manifestations of a smaller body impact resemble the potential damage from other natural hazards and, while there are aspects of the asteroid hazard that are unique, an investigation of existing resources and capabilities regarding other natural hazards provides a valid starting point and model.

PART II – Resources and Capabilities

There's a need for governmental policy makers to formulate a chain of responsibility for action in the event a threat to the Earth becomes known. "There isn't anybody to call. There is nobody there. There's nobody with authority and nobody with resources. We need to correct that."¹⁹²

Similarities Between Natural Hazards

While some aspects of the impact hazard (e.g., its predictability, variability in source composition, etc.) are unusual or unique, most destructive effects resemble those of tsunami, earthquakes, atomic bomb, volcanic explosions, sudden climate change, wildfires, etc.¹⁹³ Consequently, this section will examine other natural disasters and the protocols, policies and agencies that exist for them in hopes of extrapolation to the NEO case.

In the cases of a short warning hazardous NEO discovery, there are ample analogs with other disasters in terms of mobilizing warning and recovery efforts. The locations likely to be affected should be known nearly as reliably as other predictable disasters (such as hurricanes or earthquake-generated tsunami) in which case evacuation procedures could be implemented. However, because of fairly large error margins, the evacuation area would need to be significantly larger than any known analog. In addition, impacts can occur at any location on Earth and may not necessarily be near the restricted localities where natural or weather-related disasters are common and emergency warning-andresponse procedures are well practiced. Further, there may be significant differences from historical experience in the associated post impact disasters. An impact-generated tsunami might have different characteristics (e.g. wave frequency, direction of propagation) from previously experienced tsunami because of the location and manner (asteroid impact) in which it was generated.^{194 195}

Most social scientists interested in disaster research do not use a typology of different agents or classes of physical agents but take a generic approach to the problem.¹⁹⁶ The agent-specific approach assumes that each type of hazardous agent (e.g., a volcanic eruption, nuclear radiation fallout, asteroid impact) or classes of agents (e.g., the source being in the natural or in the technological sphere) have certain distinctive characteristics that have consequences for mitigation and relief efforts.¹⁹⁷ The generic approach assumes that there are more individual and organizational behavioral similarities than differences across all disaster occasions.¹⁹⁸ For many human and organizational problems in disaster management, the specific agent causing the disaster does not matter. Whether the emergency task is warning, evacuation, sheltering, feeding, search and rescue, disposition of the dead, mobilization of resources, communication flow, interorganizational coordination, public information, etc., the same general activities have to be undertaken irrespective of the specific agent in the situation.¹⁹⁹ Additionally, the general kinds of bureaucratic arguments advanced for a physical solution to potential disaster problems, the social sources of support, and resistances in the governmental and private sector to such measures, population views of the legitimacy and acceptability of the planning suggested, and willingness to put preventive measures on a political agenda, also show considerable similarities irrespective of the particular disaster agent involved.²⁰⁰ In the United States, many agencies already have existing plans or procedures that could prove useful, if coordinated, in mitigation of the impact hazard.

In the event of an impact disaster, the problem of an unprepared disaster management plan will be exacerbated by an uninformed public. In developing a method for accurate and open sharing of information with the public, the established disaster management community has unparalleled experience.²⁰¹ The public considers the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) and the United States Geological Survey (USGS) as having credibility regarding hurricane warnings and earthquake advisories, respectively.²⁰² With respect to sources of information, people judge risk communicators on the basis of such traits as their perceived competence, objectivity, consistency, honesty, and trustworthiness.²⁰³ To date, a publicly credible source for communicating impact information has yet to emerge. For any communication plan to be effective, it is vital that disaster managers and journalists interact regularly, before a disaster occurs, to educate each other to lay the groundwork for effective working relationships in the aftermath of a disaster.²⁰⁴ By becoming more familiar with each other's work, disaster managers, scientists, and journalists can join forces to ensure an appropriate message reaches audiences when it is needed allowing for accurate, effective and widespread dissemination.²⁰⁵

Existent Capabilities

In the development of an asteroid hazard response plan, it is both economical and responsible to survey the current resources that could be used to assist the overall effort to increase public safety. This section will provide a brief look at some existing hazard related agencies – from both the risk mitigation and disaster response perspectives – and draw some preliminary analogies to the asteroid hazard.

National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA)

The stated purpose of the NASA NEO Program is to coordinate NASA-sponsored efforts to detect, track and characterize potentially hazardous asteroids and comets that could approach the Earth.²⁰⁶ Their NEO Program is focused on observation and the Congressionally mandated goal of locating at least 90 percent of the estimated 1,000 asteroids and comets that approach the Earth and are larger than one kilometer (about 2/3-mile) in diameter by the end of the next decade.²⁰⁷

Whether NASA's mandate will extend to smaller diameter NEOs is still undecided. On February 11, 2004, Representative Dana Rohrabacher, (CA) introduced the "George R. Brown Near-Earth Object Survey Act" in the House of Representatives. The purpose of the bill is to provide for "a NEO survey program to detect, track, catalogue, and characterize certain NEOs and comets."²⁰⁸ This bill calls on NASA to plan, develop, and implement a NEO Survey program to detect, track, catalogue, and characterize the physical characteristics of NEOs and comets equal to or greater than 100 meters in diameter in order to assess the threat of such NEOs in striking the Earth. Notably, this bill allocates \$20 million for each of the fiscal years 2005 and 2006. In order to spend these funds, they would have to be appropriated to NASA in a separate set of actions from the House and Senate neither of which have acted on this legislation.²⁰⁹ However, Dr. Ed Weiler, NASA Associate Administrator for Space Science, stated that it is premature to consider an extension of the current national program to include a complete search for smaller-sized NEOs." Weiler also stated that NASA did not feel they "should play a role in any follow-on search and cataloging effort unless that effort needs to be

specifically space-based in nature."²¹⁰ While space based observatories would increase detection rates and provide longer impact warning times, there are no current plans to fund such a satellite.

The NEO program office is also currently responsible for "managing the detection and cataloging of Near-Earth objects" and "facilitating communications between the astronomical community and the public should any potentially hazardous objects be discovered."²¹¹ To accomplish this coordination and communication with the astronomical community, NASA co-funds the Minor Planet Center (MPC) where many international observatories and amateur astronomers can upload their observational data. With respect to public communication in the event of a hazardous NEO discovery, however, specific protocols have not been established and partnerships with other federal agencies that have an established infrastructure and experience with other natural hazards, communication, mitigation and recovery protocols can be developed and implemented thereby increasing public safety at relatively low cost.

The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA)

Providing the infrastructure that makes weather reporting and warnings possible, NOAA is responsible for the space assets that allow for tracking and real-time information gathering. There are facets of NOAA's operations and protocols that can be translated into the asteroid hazard mitigation scenario. For example, when reporting on incoming hurricanes, NOAA utilizes satellite imagery and relatively long lead times from the birth of the storm till landfall. While the exact area of landfall can shift until the final moments, an area of damage is estimated and evacuated prior to the storm's arrival.²¹²

The infrastructure to track a potential disaster and relay real-time information to public safety officials, decision makers and relief workers in the area would be invaluable to any post impact relief effort.

Further, the public already knows and trusts NOAA (and the associated National Weather Service (NWS) as a source for credible and accurate disaster information. This was accomplished by establishing a single source to disseminate information to media and the public. A key step astronomers must take to minimize media frenzy over false positives is to organize a similar central information source, similar (for example) to the National Hurricane Center. The role of this center will be to convey, with a single authoritative voice, the consensus findings of international experts regarding whether any asteroid close encounter merits public or governmental concern.²¹³ Continuing with the present situation of multiple information sources serves only to erode the credibility of professional astronomers.²¹⁴ In the event of an impact, far more than credibility would be at stake. Rather than fund a completely new and unknown organization to accomplish this task, it makes far more sense to utilize what is already established.

Another relevant similarity is the establishment of a relative 'scale' to inform the public how a storm will affect their community. To transmitting information to the general public about an incoming hurricane, a standard scale was established to give the relative size, strength, and damage potential of a storm. This scale, known as the Saffir-Simpson [Figure 6] scale, has become common knowledge in the United States – especially along costal areas.²¹⁵

Saffir-Simpson Hurricane Scale					
Scale Number (Category)	Sustained Winds (MPH)	Types of Damage	Hurricanes		
1	74-95	Minimal: Damage primarily to shrubbery, trees, foliage and unanchored mobile homes. No real damage to other structures.	Irene, 1999		
2	96-110	Moderate: Some trees blown down. Major damage to exposed mobile homes. Some damage to roofing materials, windows and doors.	Georges, 1998 Floyd, 1999		
3	111-130	Extensive: Large trees blown down. Mobile homes destroyed. Some structural damage to roofing materials of buildings. Some structural damage to small buildings.	Betsy, 1965 Alicia, 1983		
4	131-155	Extreme: Trees blown down. Complete destruction of mobile homes. Extensive damage to roofing materials, windows and doors. Complete failure of roofs on many small residences.	Andrew, 1992		
5	>155	Catastrophic: Complete failure of roofs on many residences and industrial buildings. Extensive damage to windows and doors. Some complete building failure.	Camille, 1969		
	NOT	E: Damage can vary greatly and may not apply to all areas, such as Hawati.			

Figure 6: The Saffir-Simpson Hurricane Scale²¹⁶

While this scale does not account for all possible variability in a hurricane, it does provide the public with a relative scale that is easily understandable and memorable. The Torino Scale for asteroid events, while similar in form, provides only a little of the same type of information related to size, strength, and damage potential.

NOAA's experience with both long and short lead-time events and public dissemination of real-time disaster information provides a reasonable model for handling typical asteroid discovery information and the types of public warning systems that will be understood and remembered. For asteroid hazard mitigation, an approach that focuses on both the long term (NOAA) and the immediate (NWS) is required.

The National Weather Service (NWS)

The first and perhaps most common source of public information is the NWS. The NWS provides weather, hydrologic, and climate forecasts and warnings for the United States, its territories, adjacent waters and ocean areas, for the protection of life and property and the enhancement of the national economy.²¹⁷ The NWS is the sole United States official voice for issuing warnings and information during life threatening weather situations.²¹⁸ This is accomplished through two means, NOAA Weather Radio (NWR) and the Emergency Managers Weather Information Network (EMWIN).

To keep the public informed, NOAA and the NWS have established a constant 'weather' band known as NWR. NWR is the prime alerting and critical information delivery system of the NWS and broadcasts warnings, watches, forecasts, and other hazard information 24 hours a day.²¹⁹ NWR has the means to distribute a warning within minutes to the general public in a targeted area. While there might not be time to evacuate an area, if a smaller NEO was discovered on the way in by (for example) a military satellite, there might be time to send an a warning to the community to take shelter. Importantly, there might not be time for conformation, explanations or the establishment of protocols. If advanced organizational planning is not done, any potential to save lives will be lost in the bureaucratic shuffle.

EMWIN is a system that transmits live weather information to computers across the United States and over most of the Pacific Ocean. The National Weather Service gathers live weather and emergency information from sources across the globe and the EMWIN system broadcasts that data via satellite, radio, and the Internet.²²⁰ Computers can use the satellite downlink to access a stream of real-time weather information from NOAA's Geostationary Operational Environmental Satellites, GOES-8 and GOES-10.²²¹ Emergency management groups and municipal agencies retrieve the EMWIN data from satellite and retransmit it through local radio frequencies. Anyone within a 40-50 mile range of the transmission signal can access that data via computer.²²² In some small island countries, it is the most reliable way to get forecasts and warnings.²²³

Finally, the NWS has historically received readings from a network of amateur meteorologists that provide rain gauge and local weather information to a central hub. This is, in fact, quite similar (in principle) to the MPC acquiring reports from amateur astronomers to help with orbital calculations and discoveries. NWS data and products form a national information database and infrastructure that can be used by other governmental agencies, the private sector, the public, and the global community.²²⁴ If the United States wanted to establish a national NEO watch center to coordinate observations (and supplement the work of the overburdened MPC), the NWS can provide a proven effective model.

The United States Geological Survey (USGS)

The USGS shares hazard research and warning responsibilities for tsunamis, earthquakes, volcanoes, landslides, and other natural Earth-based phenomenon. As with NOAA, one important duty of USGS is the preparation and dissemination of accurate information to emergency relief officials and the general public. Again, while not specifically mandated

to handle a NEO impact threat, the USGS does have mandated responsibilities in areas that could be produced as a secondary result of an impact.

Under the Stafford Act (Public Law 93-288), the USGS has the responsibility to issue timely warnings of potential volcanic disasters to civil authorities and affected communities.²²⁵ The strategy the USGS uses to provide volcano warnings in the United States also involves a series of alert levels that correspond to increasing levels of volcanic activity. As a volcano becomes increasingly active, a correspondingly higher alert level is declared. This alert level ranking thus offers the public and civil authorities a framework they can use to gauge and coordinate their response to a developing volcano emergency.

²²⁶ The USGS is also responsible for providing information about earthquakes to government agencies and the public. Information about earthquakes is used in many ways, including the response to felt earthquakes by the public, by Federal, State, and local government agencies, and by private organizations.²²⁷ With a successful and effective system for disseminating this type of information for other natural disasters, it would be pointless to develop an entirely new system specifically tailored to NEOs when the scope of the existent system could be widened to include NEOs with some training at relatively minor expense.

Because public safety is involved, the USGS stated policy is to promote the rapid release of accurate, consistent, and understandable estimates of earthquake size.²²⁸ In the event of a NEO impact, it will be important that emergency relief and public safety workers have accurate and consistent information regarding the extent of damage and possible

secondary effects. If emergency workers have never heard of the Tornio scale, it is unlikely they will understand the type of damage to expect from an eight.

Similar to the current state of affairs regarding the Torino and Palermo scales, the USGS also has two scales that it uses to express the dangers from earthquakes. The severity of an earthquake can be expressed in terms of both intensity and magnitude. However, the two terms are quite different, and they are often confused.²²⁹ Magnitude is calculated (and disseminated) through the use of the Richter Scale. This is a 1-10 scale derived from the logarithm of the amplitude of waves recorded by seismographs. (Appendix A) Adjustments are included in the magnitude formula to compensate for the variation in the distance between the various seismographs and the epicenter of the earthquakes.²³⁰

The effect of an earthquake on the Earth's surface is the intensity. The intensity scale consists of a series of certain key responses such as people awakening, movement of furniture, damage to chimneys, and finally--total destruction. Although numerous intensity scales have been developed over the last several hundred years to evaluate the effects of earthquakes, the one currently used in the United States is the Modified Mercalli (MM) Intensity Scale. (Appendix A) It was developed in 1931 by the American seismologists Harry Wood and Frank Neumann and based on the scale invented by Giuseppe Mercalli in 1902. This scale, composed of 12 levels of intensity that range from imperceptible shaking to catastrophic destruction, is designated by Roman numerals. It does not have a mathematical basis; instead, it is an arbitrary ranking based on observed effects.²³¹

This is analagous to the current NEO scenario in that there are two scales that are used, one that provides a scientific understanding of the earthquake and one which provides a more general scale in terms that the public can relate to in terms of actual effects. However, in the earthquake case, it is the scientific scale (Richter) that has permeated both the media and general public and has become the scale that most people are familiar with. Consistent use of a single scale by the media has resulted, in the United States, in a wide public understanding of the meaning of this scale. Public understanding and adoption of a NEO scale, such as the Torino Scale, will only occur if it is consistently invoked by the media when reporting on a NEO.

Finally, in addition to its history of effective and accurate dissemination of disaster and hazard information, the USGS also is home to an astrogeology research program. The stated mission of the USGS Astrogeology Research Program is to establish and maintain geoscientific and technical expertise in planetary science and remote sensing to perform the following tasks:

- Scientifically study and map extraterrestrial bodies,
- Plan and conduct planetary exploration missions, and
- Explore and develop new technologies in data processing and analysis, archiving, and distribution.²³²

In the event of a short-term incoming NEO scenario, one of the most important questions that will need to be addressed is the composition of the incoming body itself. As the sole United States federal astrogeology program, it is likely that this cadre of experts may be turned to for answers. Currently, accurate compositions (determined through visible and near-infrared (VNIR) spectroscopy) have been established for less than 1% of known NEO's.²³³ Funding observers to establish a database of compositional information for all

PHAs identified in the Spaceguard Survey, in terms of public safety, could be one of the most important tasks this program could undertake. Currently, there are no plans for this.

The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)

FEMA is an independent federal agency with ~2,500 full-time employees stationed in Washington, D.C., and across the country, and nearly 4,000 standby disaster assistance employees to help out after a disaster.²³⁴ FEMA's mission is to reduce the loss of life and property and protect the nation's critical infrastructure from all types of hazards, through a comprehensive emergency management program of risk reduction, preparedness, response, and recovery.²³⁵



Figure 7: FEMA Disaster States of Involvement²³⁶

Importantly, FEMA does not respond to every disaster that occurs in the United States FEMA responds when a disaster overwhelms a state's resources and is requested by a state governor. Federal disaster declarations are made by the President, and allow the federal government to pay for disaster recovery. Disaster assistance comes from a special fund set up by Congress under the Stafford Act. FEMA also uses a percentage of disaster assistance money to fund hazard mitigation projects in communities devastated by disasters. While the definition for the acronym ECA (Earth Crossing Asteroid) is defined within the FEMA preparedness appendix, no mention of mitigation, education, or risk reduction information appears within the public literature. However, when an impact occurs, FEMA will be a central player in national disaster relief efforts providing experience, resources and manpower.

United States Department of Defense (DoD)

As part of their duties to the nation, the DoD maintains a program of space surveillance that detects energetic upper atmospheric airbursts caused by NEOs. There are roughly 30 airbursts every year that typically release ~1 kiloton TNT equivalent energy and are caused by objects primarily in the 1-10 m size range.²³⁷ The DoD does not publicly support any programs that specifically address collisions from objects from space with the Earth²³⁸ though Brigadier General Simon Worden testified to Congress that there is at least one satellite in orbit that can track objects in space - "better than ground-based systems."²³⁹ However, he continues that even in the defense community, the issue is not seriously considered."²⁴⁰ "We are making progress with the NEO hazard issue, but there is still a giggle factor within the Pentagon," he said. "DoD may have interest in developing dual-use technology but not in assuming responsibility for NEOs.²⁴¹

With superior in-space tracking ability, it might seem logical that the military would be more involved in this effort, however, these sensors are used for vital early warning purposes and data sharing is difficult because thier detailed performance is classified.²⁴²

In recent years, the DoD has been working to provide extracts of this data to nations potentially under missile attack with cooperative programs known as "Shared Early Warning" and some data about asteroid strikes have also been released to the scientific community.²⁴³ Unfortunately, it typically takes several weeks for this data to be released. In an emergency, this would be far too late.

One option under consideration is for the DoD to assume the role of collecting available data and assessing what, if any, threat might exist from possible NEO collisions of all sizes. DoD has already studied what a military-based NEO warning center might look like through adding people (fewer than 10) to current early warning centers and support staffs within Cheyenne Mountain to form the basis of a Natural Impact Warning Clearinghouse.²⁴⁴ While DoD has been asked to assist NEO search efforts, the DoD has not been assigned tasks, nor has any item relating to NEOs been included in military operational requirements.²⁴⁵ This does not mean other groups, in particular the international scientific community, should not continue their independent efforts.²⁴⁶ Such an activity from the DoD would seem to overlap, if not duplicate, the work of the International Astronomical Union (IAU) Minor Planet Center (MPC), JPL NEO, and University of Pisa NEODyS program, which among themselves have almost 10 full-time employees. NEODyS and the JPL NEO Program currently watch hundreds of NEOs and the under-funded IAU MPC is already on overload from keeping track of 50,000 fully cataloged comets and asteroids, plus several hundred thousand partially cataloged objects.²⁴⁷ Beyond consistent funding, it is unclear what a United States based military program would accomplish in this area that is not already being done.

Air Force officials indicate that senior decision-makers do not consider the finite probability of future impact events as a threat that warrants funding.²⁴⁸ Consequently, the senior official at the Planetary Sciences Office and program managers at the Air Force Office of Scientific Research (AFOSR) stated that senior management within their organizations wished to move away from the phrase "NEO threat."²⁴⁹ Thus, Air Force NEO programs are not justified based on a NEO-Earth impact threat, but are rather justified on obtaining better broad-based and deep space situational awareness capabilities to detect, identify and track unnatural, possibly hostile space objects, such as adversaries' potential "super black" systems in space.²⁵⁰

United Nations and Multi-national Perspectives

Over 320 different observatories located in some 35 different countries are involved in making astrometric observations of NEOs.²⁵¹ More than 70 percent of them are owned and operated by amateur astronomers with fourteen of these observing programs [Figure 8] being collectively responsible for around 88 percent of observations²⁵² and NEO discoveries. [Figure 9] This section will examine some of the international NEO work currently underway as well as multinational perspectives on disaster management.

Program	Number	Telescope	P.I.
LINEAR	725 277	1.0-m GEODSS	G. H. Stokes
Spacewatch	126 143	0.91-m reflector	R. S. McMillan
LONEOS	103 493	0.59-m Schmidt	E. L. G. Bowell
NEAT	43 333	1.0-m GEODSS	E. F. Helin
Xinglong	35 240	0.60-m Schmidt	J. Zhu
ESO	33 744	1.0-m Schmidt	E. W. Elst, CI. Lagerkvist
ODAS	27 742	0.90-m Schmidt	A. Maury, G. Hahn
Klet	19 764	0.57-m reflector	J. Tichá
Catalina	17 792	0.41-m Schmidt	S. M. Larson
Oizumi	13 929	0.25-m reflector	T. Kobayashi
Visnjan	13 295	0.41-m reflector	K. Korlevic
Ondrejov	10 300	0.65-m reflector	P. Pravec
Woomera	8 843	0.30-m reflector	F. B. Zoltowski
Prescott	7 659	0.46-m reflector	P. Comba

Figure 8: Leading Observing Programs²⁵³



Figure 9: NEA's Discovered by Site²⁵⁴
International Astronomical Union / Minor Planet Center

The Minor Planet Center (MPC) operates at the Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory (SAO), under the auspices of Division III (Commission 20) of the International Astronomical Union (IAU). The MPC is responsible for the collection, verification and dissemination of astrometric observations and orbits for minor planets and comets, via the Minor Planet Circulars (issued monthly) and the Minor Planet Electronic Circulars (issued as necessary).²⁵⁵ The MPC is perhaps the closest thing to an internationally accepted clearinghouse for NEO information. The MPC is a nonprofit organization, with principal funding coming from subscriptions to various services, as well as support from NASA and SAO.²⁵⁶ However, funding for the MPC has regularly been reduced and subscription rates for MPC services are down with the availability of electronic data. Discoveries are far outpacing the ability for data to be processed in a single location (at current funding levels) causing the MPC to often become "overwhelmed."²⁵⁷ While some have called for a distribution of responsibility between different NEO centers, others believe that since the MPC already has the expertise, links and credibility, distributing the data collection and dissemination process would only produce practical and organizational complications.²⁵⁸ NEO Discovery rates are unlikely to fall in the near-An official international clearinghouse for data (for observers) would reduce term. confusion, conserve resources and reduce duplication of effort. The innate uncertainty attached to early NEO discoveries makes this information nearly useless to media and the general public and should perhaps be limited to registered observation programs. (who would be free to contact the media individually, if desired, to eliminate any calls of 'cover-up' while retaining the integrity and respectability of the source)

Spaceguard UK

Spaceguard UK was established in early 1997 to pursue the following aims:

- 1. To promote and encourage British activities involving discovery and followup observations of NEOs.
- 2. To promote the study of the physical and dynamic properties of asteroids and comets, with particular emphasis on NEOs.
- 3. To promote the establishment of an international, ground based surveillance network (the Spaceguard Project) for the discovery, observation, and follow-up study of NEOs.
- 4. To provide a national United Kingdom information service to raise public awareness of the NEO threat, and technology available to predict and avoid dangerous impacts.²⁵⁹

A number of well-publicized meetings have been precipitated by the activities of Spaceguard UK, taking the subject of Planetary Defense from the realm of a handful of experts to the corridors of the House of Commons and the British media. Spaceguard UK is acknowledged as the prime UK non-governmental organization concerned with Planetary Defense and the impact.²⁶⁰ The 2000 report of the British government's Task Force on Potentially Hazardous Near Earth Objects was published in September 2000 and makes 14 recommendations for government action and all recommendations were accepted by the minister, Lord Sainsbury.²⁶¹ However, the Under Secretary of State for science and technology decided in 2000 that the United Kingdom will not fund additional studies into the threat from NEOs or planetary defense matters over and above the UK national contribution to ESA.²⁶² On 11 September 2003 Lord Sainsbury announced in the House of Lords that all 14 recommendations had been implemented. In reality, nine of the recommendations have not seen any action at all and only one has actually been implemented.²⁶³ Several ministers' comments have suggested that it is unlikely that the situation will change in the near future.

Russia

Russian NEO search efforts are hampered by a severe lack of funding, a lag in technology and limited interaction and peer review with the outside community. Consequently, Russian NEO research has focused on short-term practical responses using available technology in the event of a confirmed incoming. At the 1996 Space Protection of the Earth Conference, held in Snezhinsk (Chelyabinsk-70), Russia, representatives of Russian aerospace industry (Lavochkin, Khrunichev, and Makeyav) described comprehensive proposals to deal with the impact hazard, collectively called "Space Shield."²⁶⁴ These proposals were exclusively designed for the short-range interception of incoming NEOs and advocated development of a space-based optical detection system with a range of 10-20 million kilometers to provide 4-7 days warning, coupled with multi-layered space-launched and ground-based interceptor missiles with kinetic-energy or nuclear warheads.²⁶⁵ David Morrison, the only United States scientist to attend, stated that these proposals implicitly or explicitly the basics of NEO defense: the importance of carrying out a Spaceguard type search, the advantages of ground-based over space-based searches, the expectation of long warning times, the advantages of intercepting at very great range from the Earth, the advantages of deflection over disruption, the dangers of maintaining a large fleet of rocket interceptors on the pad, etc.²⁶⁶

In the event that any of these "basics of NEO defense" turn out to not apply to an incoming NEO, it might be comforting to have another option. Vadim Simonenko, deputy head of the Russian Institute of Technical Physics, addressed this saying, "We have a completely different attitude in this country to the impacts of Tunguska class bodies. Such an impact (in a populated area) would be an awful event. To prevent this, it

is necessary to develop short-time-observation ability and an alert system (more probably with space-based telescopes and radio telescopes) and to develop an in space ready-forinterception system capable of dispersing similar small bodies.²⁶⁷ Unfortunately, this type of planetary defense system could not only be used for NEO defense, but also as a military weapon capable of causing the destruction of entire countries and regions.²⁶⁸ In fact, statistically, it is more likely to do so.²⁶⁹

United Nations (UN) and Disaster Risk Reduction

While limited tangible progress has been made, the international nature of the NEO hazard has been recognized politically. A December 03, 2003 General Assembly document stated that the almost complete lack of defined governmental responsibilities and the complete lack of coordination of policies at the international level is counterproductive to the goal of finding a rational response for the potential NEO threat.²⁷⁰ To help remedy this, the UN has held a series of international workshops encouraging scientific cooperation facilitated by the International Council for Science (ICSU) and the IAU to be complemented by parallel policy cooperation through the UN Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development.²⁷¹ Ultimately, however, the UN has taken the position that international cooperation on the NEO hazard is constrained without improved coordination at the national and regional levels.²⁷²

Through the efforts of the United Nations system, disaster risk reduction has become a growing issue of policy concern and, as in the United States, the focus leans towards the social rather than technical aspects of risk reduction. The multi-hazard Disaster Risk Reduction *Mainstreaming Framework* was created through the United Nations as a

functional way to build collaboration between stakeholders in order to reduce the impact of natural disasters by integrating disaster risk reduction measures into development policies.²⁷³ While recognizing the need for technical and scientifically-based approaches to risk reduction often associated with the natural hazards discipline, this framework lays responsibility for reducing the impact of disasters on policy-makers, communities, nongovernmental organizations, and the private sector and designed as a measurement tool for establishing political commitment and community participation around disaster risk reduction, and as an aid to strategic planning.²⁷⁴ Like risk, the capacity to mitigate is socially structured. Vulnerability and mitigation are two sides of the same coin. Disaster losses are a function of the ability to mitigate, and conversely, failure to mitigate means that sooner or later losses that could have been avoided will occur.²⁷⁵ This is true of all nations with respect to the asteroid hazard, however, since asteroids are nondiscriminatory in choosing a target, it is important to consider the coping capacity of developing nations. A country, such as Bangladesh, has lost more lives in a single major catastrophe, a typhoon, than many European societies have experienced in their entire histories.²⁷⁶ However, mitigation efforts (such as building reinforcement, the building of dikes, etc.) are expensive endeavors. In developing countries, the process has been reinforced by recognition that national development can be seriously hindered by a major disaster. In some cases, the material losses can be up to five or more percent of the yearly gross national product.²⁷⁷ The effects of a NEO impact in a developing nation would be catastrophic and potentially unrecoverable. Currently, even issuing impact warnings in the developing world would be difficult if not impossible.²⁷⁸

PART III - Options and Conclusions

"Earth's history is filled with unanticipated catastrophes and their disastrous consequences. With appropriate planning, the human toll could be lessened." ²⁷⁹

Three Mitigation Modes

One day a NEO will impact a populated area. Without the ability to destroy or otherwise redirect an incoming impacting body, it is certain to happen – it is just a matter of time. Consequently, while rare, NEOs are a legitimate addition to the list of possible civil disasters.²⁸⁰ The paramount issue in a hazard management strategy is the prevention of loss of life. Early detection and characterization (of structure, spin, composition, etc) of potentially hazardous NEOs is an important first step to quantify the risk Earth faces. However, if an impact occurs, plans must exist to minimize the mortality and economic destruction and, in extreme cases, to preserve civilization and the human species. While this generation may not face an incoming threat, there are things that can be done today to help insure a safer tomorrow.

Mitigation of the NEO impact hazard can take three forms. The preferred but most technically challenging (and expensive) option is to develop a means to deflect the threatening NEO, changing its orbit so that it will miss Earth.²⁸¹ Alternatively, we can continue to search the skies to find any possible hazardous NEOs, determine their compositions, structures and orbits and prepare the public (through education, warning systems, etc) as well as possible. Least desirable, but perhaps most likely, would be to hope for the best and deal with the aftermath of an impact should one occur in the same way we recover from earthquakes or other natural disasters.²⁸² At minimum, a chain of

command and responsibility should be established that uses, where possible, existent governmental resources and experience while reducing duplication of effort.

Six Steps Towards a Safer Future

At the 2004 AIAA Planetary Defense Conference, a position paper was drafted that recommended six steps that can be accomplished today, at minimal expense, to improve the current situation.²⁸³ Each of these steps will be examined and expanded upon below.

1. Find (or create) an organizational/governmental home within the United States government for the planetary defense issue. This interagency office should establish a formal protocol for disseminating information regarding NEOs when the probability of impacting Earth exceeds specified thresholds.²⁸⁴

This point was addressed in Morrison et al. "Dealing With The Impact Hazard" that explained planning for adaptation entails establishing a chain of responsibility prior to the materialization of an emergency.²⁸⁵ In it, a hypothetical NEO emergency organizational plan, using the United States government, was used as an example. In the executive branch, the National Science and Technology Council (NSTC) (part of the White House Office of Science and Technology Policy) seems to have natural purview over the impact hazard.²⁸⁶ The NSTC is tasked with establishing clear national goals for Federal science and technology investments and preparing research and development strategies that are coordinated across Federal agencies.²⁸⁷ The formal assignment of the NEO impact hazard to an NSTC committee would be accomplished by drafting a Presidential Decision Directive (PDD/NSTC) or Presidential Review Directive (PRD/NSTC) and little else would need to be done until there is confirmed warning of a threat.²⁸⁸ In the unlikely event of a short lead-time NEO Threat, the PDD can be issued as a joint National Security Council NSC/NSTC document, for which there is precedent in the National

Space Policy of September 19, 1996 (PDD/NSTC 8 and PDD/NSC 49).²⁸⁹ By simply preparing the documents that establish the organizational chain of command and assign responsibilities for response and/or recovery tasks, there would be far less confusion in the event of an actual NEO disaster.

2. Extend the Spaceguard Survey, currently focused on finding and cataloging 1-km-class objects and larger, to include finding and cataloging 100-m-class NEOs and larger. These smaller objects pose a significant portion of the impact hazard. This task can be accomplished by relatively inexpensive telescopic and/or spacecraft systems; however, a substantial increase in the funding base beyond the current level of NASA funding (~\$4.0 million per year) is required. This funding must be maintained into the future to watch for long-period comets and rogue asteroids.²⁹⁰

This point is covered in detail in the 2003 NASA "Study to Determine the Feasibility of Extending the Search for NEOs to Smaller Limiting Diameters."²⁹¹ Results of that study show that extending the survey is both technically feasible and financially worthwhile through a cost/benefit analysis. According to their cost/benefit assessment, the benefits associated with eliminating these risks justify substantial investment in PHA search and mitigation systems.²⁹² Importantly, to actually reduce the risk of PHA damage, investments must also be made in mitigation system research and field-testing. Without the proven ability to deflect, destroy, divert or otherwise protect the Earth's surface from an impact, all an enhanced search system is accomplishing is better quantifying the existent risk. Plans are already on the drawing board for the Large-aperture Synoptic Survey Telescope (LSST), a dedicated, large telescope 20 feet [6.9 meters] across, with a wide field, that would able to survey the entire night sky every few weeks. The LSST

would be able to detect NEOs down to 300 meters in size, as well as potentially find 100,000 supernova and Kuiper Belt objects all at a cost of \$125-150 million.²⁹³

3. Conduct mission design studies and flight tests to characterize requirements for short-, medium-, and long-range missions to eventually demonstrate the ability to move an asteroid. These studies would compare current capabilities with mission requirements and help to identify and prioritize technology research and development goals.²⁹⁴

As stated before, simply discovering the orbits of existing NEOs does little to reduce but quantify the existent risk for Earth. Without the ability to move and/or deflect a NEO, simple knowledge of its ephemeris does little more that provide a timeline for the implementation of other "on the ground" mitigation options or the preparation of relief efforts. It is important that mission design studies include an examination of political and policy-level decisions and decision timelines for various deflection scenarios (short-term, long-term, nuclear, non-nuclear), potential public and government concerns and responses to a potential threat and subsequent deflection effort, and management of a deflection effort in the face of public expectations and uncertainty.²⁹⁵

4. Develop and fund ground-based techniques (including planetary radar) as well as missions to several asteroids to gather information that contributes to designing deflection missions. Critical information includes object sizes and dynamics, object types (e.g., binary), characteristics of surface and sub-surface materials, responses to explosive forces, and characteristics relating to attaching a spacecraft or other large structures to NEOs.²⁹⁶

While finding and tracking orbits is the necessary first step, no mitigation strategies can be developed without compositional and structural knowledge of the specific body. (A solid iron body would need to be handled far differently than a rubble pile of chondritic material) While funding a space mission to every NEO is cost prohibitive, compositional information is also obtainable through ground based VNIR spectroscopy. Funding should be made available to at least characterize those objects listed as potentially hazardous.

5. Increase public awareness of and appreciation for the NEO threat. Bring evidence of previous NEO impacts to the attention of the public to increase awareness that impacts do happen and that the possibility of future impacts should not be ignored. Build public and political support for increased funding for planetary defense related research of the type recommended above.²⁹⁷

As discussed previously, public perception of risk is not based on facts or statistics, but rather by an emotional response to a perceived hazard. Overall, two specific factors were noted: First, accurate public education about the asteroid hazard is nearly non-existent. Pseudo-scientific portrayals of the asteroid hazard through Hollywood and even less reputable sources have lead to confusion and perpetuated the "giggle factor." Second, faced with repeated false alarms and inaccurate news reporting (to the fault of both the scientists and the media) has created a "yawn factor" and lulled the public into a false sense of security. In the event of a crisis, no single credible source for public information. Increasing awareness will only be successful if coupled with an education campaign designed to dispel myths and provide information in a consistent, clear, and uniform way. In the event of an impact, this will be even more important for disaster warning and recovery efforts.

6. Include NEO impacts as possible disaster scenarios for disaster recovery and relief agencies. Assess what lessons can be learned

from major disasters that would apply to NEO impact disasters to help disaster relief agencies develop responses to possible emergencies of this type.²⁹⁸

To date, the NEO community has not made much effort to enter into dialogue with government agencies that deal with security and recovery issues.²⁹⁹ The NEO science community needs consider the societal context of NEO searches and mitigation as ultimately, these other considerations play a critical role in determining what priority will be placed on protecting our planet from cosmic impacts.³⁰⁰ Determining the compositional history of the solar system, while important and interesting, is unlikely to warrant the same level of funding as a project described as one that will save lives.

Additionally, the NEO community should engage other professionals with greater experience in disaster mitigation and national security. Technology and experience gained in other large-scale disasters will most likely form the foundation of how these impact events will be managed and classified. Given the size and energy of the projectile, the estimated area of damage, and whether impact effects might be localized or global in nature, relief agencies can begin to build basic disaster response scenarios, anticipate public health concerns, and formulate questions today rather than during the crisis itself. Planning and preparedness for one disaster may have unforeseen beneficial effects for another. This idea is not new as similar coordinated preparations are underway to deal with the possibility of a terrorist attack. Studies have identified a number of areas that can be enhanced by decades of research in traditional disaster areas³⁰¹ such as wildfires, arson, accidental explosions and bombs, floods and dam sabotage, chemical spills and chemical attacks, epidemics, etc.³⁰² Using many of the same analogues,

asteroid preparation and mitigation efforts could be significantly advanced and integrated into current disaster management schemes.

From a disaster preparation standpoint, there are many specific questions that must be assigned to and resolved by relevant agencies. These are well described in a Garshnek et.al. article in *Space Policy* and summarized below:

Evacuation plans: evacuation of the immediate impact area and regions of danger around Ground Zero will be of critical importance. This activity may be as large and as complex as evacuation of an entire continent. Which nations will open their doors? How much time is needed to carry this out? What authorities will make these decisions? What national/international policies would need to be in place?³⁰³

Water insecurities: Wells and water pipes will most likely be damaged in areas affected by impact shock. Re-digging wells and surveys of water quality and quantity will need to be done. Surface water, rivers, streams will most likely be contaminated (therefore uncontaminated ground water must be reached). Who will do this and how will it happen?³⁰⁴

Food stores and food production capabilities: If an impact causing a catastrophe of global proportions threatens the world food supply, the following questions would need to be answered: What types of food should be stored? How much food? Where should it be stored? Who would be the authority ensuring the population receives the food it needs? If we are threatened with an "impact winter" and cannot grow food naturally on

the surface, what types of artificial means might be employed to produce food in enclosed spaces? Do we currently have the adequate technology to grow food this way or do we need to expand development of this capability? Could we do this on a large scale if necessary? ³⁰⁵

Public education and the media: What role can the media play in educating the public as to what to expect should a large impact event be foreseen? How should the media work with scientists, civil defense coordinators, government, etc. to work with the public and assist them in preparing to survive?³⁰⁶ How do we get the public to discern important factual information and react appropriately? How can communication between scientists and media be improved to increase public credibility?

International cooperation: International cooperation, coordination, and consistent involvement will play a key role. If a nation or even an entire continent is to be evacuated, how can other nations prepare to help accommodate displaced persons and populations? How will these displaced people be fed, sheltered, and medically cared for? What policies would need to be in place to ensure mobilization of international assistance for such a unique event?³⁰⁷ How would such things be funded? Who will provide security?

Tsunami preparedness: With the impact tsunami hazard in mind, what steps can be taken in the pre-disaster phase to diminish the consequences of an impact generated tsunami?³⁰⁸

Survival technologies: What types of technologies could assist the affected populations in surviving an impact disaster? For example:

- How robust are our global satellite communications technologies? In which impact scenarios will they not be operational? How might they be used to communicate essential public information to individuals as well as serve central command and control centers? Do we have contingency plans in place to ensure communication satellite operations during local and global impact disasters?
- How reliable will our energy sources be during local or global impact disasters? In which scenarios will hydroelectric power, nuclear power, solar energy, and fossil fuel work well? In which scenarios will these energy sources become non-operational? What sources of power might be useful during impact winter and can we produce them on a large enough scale to accommodate energy needs?³⁰⁹
- Do we have technologies in place, or can we develop technologies that can mitigate the effects of wide-spread acid rain, water acidification, or counter the source of impact winter (i.e. shorten impact winter by ridding the atmosphere of suspended particulate matter)?³¹⁰

These are but a few examples of the types of disaster management preparation that would benefit from proactive policy development and funding to ensure the best possible outcomes rather than rely on an ad hoc development scheme that will inevitably be fraught with holes, inefficiency, and problems that could have been avoided. Rocks from space hit Earth all the time and some, if the size, speed and angle are just right, pass through the atmosphere and hit the ground. This has always happened and it always will. It is only a matter of time before one makes it through to impact or explode near a populated area. Even the smallest of these is capable of the devastation caused by the Hiroshima atomic bomb; the biggest could kill every living thing on the entire planet. While search programs continue to find the large PHAs, smaller (statistically more likely) objects are likely to arrive and impact with little or no warning and when this happens, it will be an unparalleled disaster relief effort. Researchers and the media have a poor relationship that has exacerbated public confusion regarding the hazard, reduced the credibility of both and created a political "giggle factor" that makes NEO projects This is mainly the result of insufficient or non-existent protocols. difficult to fund. Further, in the event of an actual emergency, there are no plans, no chain of command and no assigned responsibilities. Admittedly, the odds of an impact in any given generation are small. Politicians can do nothing and be reasonably assured that they will not be remembered by history for negligent inaction that lead to the death of millions. Then again, by implementing the six steps listed above (many of which can be started with resources that already exist), they will be starting a process that will endure into the future and ultimately save lives and perhaps, one day, the planet.

<u>Appendix A – The Richter and Mercelli Earthquake Scales</u>

The Richter Scale

Magnitude	Earthquake Effects	Estimated Number Each Year
2.5 or less	Usually not felt, but can be recorded by seismograph. 900,000	
2.5 to 5.4	Often felt, but only causes minor damage. 30,000	
5.5 to 6.0	Slight damage to buildings and other structures. 500	
6.1 to 6.9	May cause a lot of damage in very populated areas.	
7.0 to 7.9	Major earthquake. Serious damage.	
8.0 or greater	Great earthquake. Can totally destroy communities near the epicenter.	One every 5 to 10 years

Mercalli Intensity (at epicenter)	Magnitude	Witness Observations
Ι	1 to 2	Felt by very few people; barely noticeable.
П	2 to 3	Felt by a few people, especially on upper floors.
Ш	3 to 4	Noticeable indoors, especially on upperfloors, but may not be recognized as an earthquake.
IV	4	Felt by many indoors, few outdoors. May feel like heavy truck passing by.
V	4 to 5	Felt by almost everyone, some people awakened. Small objects moved. Trees and poles may shake.
VI	5 to 6	Felt by everyone. Difficult to stand. Some heavy furniture moved, some plaster falls. Chimneys may be slightly damaged.
VII	6	Slight to moderate damage in well built, ordinary structures. Considerable damage to poorly built structures. Some walls may fall.
VIII	6 to 7	Little damage in specially built structures. Considerable damage to ordinary buildings, severe damage to poorly built structures. Some walls collapse.
IX	7	Considerable damage to specially built structures, buildings shifted off foundations. Ground cracked noticeably. Wholesale destruction. Landslides.
X	7 to 8	Most masonry and frame structures and their foundations destroyed. Ground badly cracked. Landslides. Wholesale destruction.
XI	8	Total damage. Few, if any, structures standing. Bridges destroyed. Wide cracks in ground. Waves seen on ground.
XII	8 or greater	Total damage. Waves seen on ground. Objects thrown up into air.

Modified Mercalli Intensity Scale

References

¹ Armagh Observatory. "Current Map of the Solar System" September 17, 2001. http://szyzyg.arm.ac.uk/~spm/neo_map.html

³ Bill McGuire. 'Super-cat that will threaten life on Earth: it is only a matter of when.' Benfield Disaster Research Center, University College London. 2003.

⁴ Robert Roy Britt. "Asteroids And Secrecy: If End Is Nigh, Do You Want To Know?" Space.com, February 24, 2003 http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/asteroid secrecy 030224.html

David Morrison. "Overview Of The Impact Hazard." presented at the NEO Impact Symposium & Secrecy Issues. NASA Ames 2003 Archive. February 25, 2003. http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/

⁶ David Morrison, et.al. The Spaceguard Survey. Report of the International Near-Earth-Object Detection Workshop. 1993. http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/reports/spaceguard/index.html

⁷ NASA JPL/NEO Program Office, Frequently Asked Questions, "How Many Have Been Discovered." http://neo.jpl.nasa.gov/faq/

Alain Maury. (OCA Schmidt Telescope Manager) The Spaceguard survey : Discovery statistics at the end of 2003. January, 2004. http://www.astrosurf.com/maury/asteroides/2003/NEA2003.html ⁹ Ibid.

¹⁰ Clark R. Chapman. "How a Near-Earth Object Impact Might Affect Society." Commissioned by the Global Science Forum for the Workshop on Near Earth Objects: Risks, Policies, and Actions, Frascati, Italy. January 09, 2003.

¹¹ Armagh Observatory. "Current Map of the Solar System" September 17, 2001.
 <u>http://szyzyg.arm.ac.uk/~spm/neo_map.html</u>
 ¹² Alan Harris quoted in Britt and David. "Small Asteroid Makes Closest Earth Fly-by Ever Noticed." Space.Com October 06, 2003. <u>http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/asteroid_close_031006.html</u>

¹³ Robert Roy Britt. "The Sky Isn't Falling, But Pieces of It Surely Are." Space.Com, October 01, 2003. http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/chicken_little_031001.html

¹⁵ H. Atkinson. Tickell, C., Williams, D. "Report of the Task Force on Potentially hazardous Near Earth Objects." London: HMSO. (2000)

¹⁶ Clark R. Chapman. "How a Near-Earth Object Impact Might Affect Society." Commissioned by the Global Science Forum for the Workshop on Near Earth Objects: Risks, Policies, and Actions, Frascati, Italy. January 09, 2003.

¹⁷ Benny Peiser. "Preparing The Public For An Impending Impact." Paper presented at the International Workshop On Managing Global-Scale Disasters, Irvine, California. April 12, 2002.

¹⁸ James Oberg, "Planetary Defense, Asteroid Deflection and the Future of Human Intervention in the Earth's Biosphere," presentation at the Futures Focus Day Symposium, United States Space Command, Colorado Springs, Colorado, July 23, 1998. http://www.phoenixat.com/~vnn2/PDdebate.html.

¹⁹ Benny Peiser. "Preparing The Public For An Impending Impact." Paper presented at the International Workshop On Managing Global-Scale Disasters, Irvine, California. April 12, 2002.

²⁰ J.R. Tate, Spaceguard UK Report, Executive Summary, September 2000.

http://star.arm.ac.uk/impact-hazard/Spacegd95-2.PDF²¹Benny Peiser. "Preparing The Public For An Impending Impact." Paper presented at the International Workshop On Managing Global-Scale Disasters, Irvine, California. April 12, 2002.

²² Clark R. Chapman. "How a Near-Earth Object Impact Might Affect Society." Commissioned by the Global Science Forum for the Workshop on Near Earth Objects: Risks, Policies, and Actions, Frascati, Italy. January 09, 2003. ²³ Bam Earthquake Emergency Coordinating Committee (BamEECC) Official Press Release. "Islamic regime's

confesses to its role in the Bam Tragedy." Press Release No. 2, January 08. 2004. http://www.bamquake.org/ourworks/islamic regime.htm

²⁴ Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 2001. "Identify Risk" (OECD Public Management Committee, PUMA/MPM(2001)2), 5 pp.

²⁵ Ibid.

²⁶ Mark Bailey. "Origin, Collision Rate and Actuarial Risk" Presentation to the All Party Parliamentary Astronomy and Space Environment Group. May 1999.

²⁷ Ibid.

²⁸ Joseph M. Laufer. Halley's Comet Its 30th Recorded Return 1985-1986.

http://www.geocities.com/Athens/Olympus/6745/haleyhome.html

²⁹ C. Plinivs Secondys. The Second Booke Of The Historie Of Natvre. Chapter XXV 'Of Comets or blazing stars, and coelestiall prodigies, their nature, situation, and diverse sorts' - Translated into English by Philemon Holland 1601, Org. published AD 77.

⁰ "Halley's Comet as seen on the Bayeux Tapestry" Space Art Throughout the Ages. J.Paul Getty ArtsEdNet 2000. http://www.getty.edu/artsednet/resources/Space/Stories/halleys.html

Ibid.

² The Bible, KJV. Luke 21:11. http://www.godrules.net/library/kjv/kjvluk21.htm

¹⁴ Ibid.

³² Jin Zhu. "Chinese meteorite disaster in 1490AD." Letter to Michael Paine from the Bejing Astronomical Observatory published in documentation for the Australian Spaceguard Survey at <u>http://www1.tpgi.com.au/users/tps-seti/spacegd2.html</u>
 ³³ E.L. Quarantelli. 'Technological and Natural Disasters and Ecological Problems: Similarities and Differences in

³³ E.L. Quarantelli. 'Technological and Natural Disasters and Ecological Problems: Similarities and Differences in Planning for and Managing Them.' Presented at the Colloquium on Challenges of Technological and Ecological Disasters, Mexico City, Mexico. May 11, 1993.

³⁴ Ibid.

³⁵ Ibid.

³⁶ A. Lavell. "Prevention and Mitigation of Disasters in Central America: Social and Political Vulnerability to Disasters at the Local Level." Presented to a joint conference of the Developing Areas Research Group, Institute of British Geographers and Royal Geographical Society on Disasters Vulnerability and Response, London, UK. May 1991.

³⁷ John Twigg. "Corporate Social Responsibility and Disaster Reduction: A Global Overview," Benfield Hazard Research Centre, London, UK. 2001.

³⁸ E.L. Quarantelli. 'Technological and Natural Disasters and Ecological Problems: Similarities and Differences in Planning for and Managing Them.' Presented at the Colloquium on Challenges of Technological and Ecological Disasters, Mexico City, Mexico. May 11, 1993.

³⁹ John Twigg. "Corporate Social Responsibility and Disaster Reduction: A Global Overview," Benfield Hazard Research Centre, London, UK. 2001.

⁴⁰ Ibid.

⁴¹ David Morrison. "Overview Of The Impact Hazard." presented at the NEO Impact Symposium & Secrecy Issues. NASA Ames 2003 Archive. February 25, 2003. <u>http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/</u>

⁴² Ibid.

⁴³ Ibid.

 ⁴⁴ David Morrison. "Planetary Defense Conference: Protecting the Earth from Asteroids." NASA Ames Research Center News, March 01, 2004. <u>http://nai.arc.nasa.gov/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=136</u>
 ⁴⁵ Ibid.

⁴⁶ Steven E. Miller. "After the 9/11 Disaster: Washington's Struggle to Improve Homeland Security." Axess Stockholm, Sweden no. 2 (March 2003): 8-11

http://bcsia.ksg.harvard.edu/publication.cfm?program=CORE&ctype=article&item_id=548

⁴⁸ Alerting America: Effective Risk Communication - Summary of the Natural Disasters Roundtable. National Academies Press. October 31, 2002 (2003) <u>http://books.nap.edu/html/ndr/alerting_america.pdf</u>
 ⁴⁹ Ibid.

⁵⁰ Clark Chapman. "Perspectives On The Impact Hazard in a Dangerous World." presented at the NEO Impact Symposium & Secrecy Issues. NASA Ames 2003 Archive. February 25, 2003. <u>http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/</u> ⁵¹ The 2001 Physicartheorem Content of the content of the second s

⁵¹ The 2001 Bhuj earthquake, Gujarat, India. Colorado Institute for Research in Environmental Sciences. January 26, 2001. <u>http://cires.colorado.edu/~bilham/Gujarat2001.html</u>

⁵² UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Action. "Food Distribution Point at Work in Bam." January 22, 2004. <u>http://www.irinnews.org/report.asp?ReportID=42061&SelectRegion=Central_Asia&SelectCountry=IRAN</u>

⁵³ Clark Chapman. "Perspectives On The Impact Hazard in a Dangerous World." presented at the NEO Impact Symposium & Secrecy Issues. NASA Ames 2003 Archive. February 25, 2003. <u>http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/</u>
 ⁵⁴ Ibid.

⁵⁵ Ibid.

⁵⁶ Clark R. Chapman. "How a Near-Earth Object Impact Might Affect Society." Commissioned by the Global Science Forum for the Workshop on Near Earth Objects: Risks, Policies, and Actions, Frascati, Italy. January 09, 2003.

⁵⁷ Ibid.

⁵⁸ Ibid.

⁵⁹ Ibid.

⁶⁰ Comments from Colonel George Ritchie, UK during The Secretariat of the International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (UN/ISDR) and the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) On-Line Conference to guide and monitor disaster risk reduction. August 25 to September 26, 2003.

⁶¹ David Morrison. "Planetary Defense Conference: Protecting the Earth from Asteroids." NASA Ames Research Center News, March 01, 2004. <u>http://nai.arc.nasa.gov/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=136</u>
⁶² Ibid

⁶³ Tsunami Hazard Mitigation Federal/State Working Group. Tsunami Hazard Mitigation Implementation Plan: A
 Report to the Senate Appropriations Committee. April 1996. <u>http://www.pmel.noaa.gov/tsunami-hazard/hazard3.pdf</u>
 ⁶⁴ Ibid.

⁶⁵ David Morrison. "Planetary Defense Conference: Protecting the Earth from Asteroids." NASA Ames Research Center News, March 01, 2004. <u>http://nai.arc.nasa.gov/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=136</u>

⁶⁶ Tsunami Hazard Mitigation Federal/State Working Group. Tsunami Hazard Mitigation Implementation Plan: A Report to the Senate Appropriations Committee. April 1996. http://www.pmel.noaa.gov/tsunami-hazard/hazard3.pdf

⁶⁷ David Morrison. "Has The Spaceguard Survey Made Us Any Safer?" NASA Ames Research Center News, January 15, 2004. http://nai.arc.nasa.gov/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=133 ⁶⁸ Ibid.

⁶⁹ Clark Chapman. "Perspectives On The Impact Hazard in a Dangerous World." presented at the NEO Impact Symposium & Secrecy Issues. NASA Ames 2003 Archive. February 25, 2003. <u>http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/</u>⁷⁰ Clark R. Chapman. "How a Near-Earth Object Impact Might Affect Society." Commissioned by the Global Science

Forum for the Workshop on Near Earth Objects: Risks, Policies, and Actions, Frascati, Italy, January 09, 2003. ⁷¹ Ibid.

⁷² Clark Chapman. "Perspectives On The Impact Hazard in a Dangerous World." presented at the NEO Impact Symposium & Secrecy Issues. NASA Ames 2003 Archive. February 25, 2003. <u>http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/</u> ⁷³ Parliamentary Office Of Science And Technology. "Near Earth Objects, NEO's" POST Report 126, April 1999.

http://www.parliament.uk/post/pn126.pdf

⁷⁴ Leonard David. "Mission Possible: Asteroid Tugboat Backed For Trial Run." Space.Com, October 15, 2003. http://www.space.com/businesstechnology/technology/asteroid tug 031015.html

⁷⁵ Ibid.

⁷⁶ Alan Hale. "Hale Bopp Comet Madness" Skeptical Inquirer. March/April 1997.

http://www.csicop.org/si/9703/hale.html

Ibid.

⁷⁸ Richard Sipe. "The SLO Emails, The Con Letters" <u>http://www.sipe.com/halebopp/slocon.htm</u>

⁷⁹ Alan Hale. "Hale Bopp Comet Madness" Skeptical Inquirer. March/April 1997.

http://www.csicop.org/si/9703/hale.html.

⁹ Joanne M. Nigg. 'The Issuance of Earthquake 'predictions': Scientific Approaches and Public Policy Strategies.' Disaster Research Center, University of Delaware Preliminary Paper #275. 1998.

⁸¹ United Nations Disaster Management Training Program. "The News Media and Humanitarian Action." Adapted from Minear, Scott, and Weiss. 1st Edition. 1997.

⁸² Benny Peiser. "Preparing The Public For An Impending Impact." Paper presented at the International Workshop On Managing Global-Scale Disasters, Irvine, California. April 12, 2002.

Robert Roy Britt. "Asteroids And Secrecy: If End Is Nigh, Do You Want To Know?" Space.com, February 24, 2003 http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/asteroid_secrecy_030224.html

⁸⁴ Benny Peiser. "Preparing The Public For An Impending Impact." Paper presented at the International Workshop On Managing Global-Scale Disasters, Irvine, California. April 12, 2002

⁸⁵ Ibid.

⁸⁶ Ibid.

⁸⁷ Clark R. Chapman. "How a Near-Earth Object Impact Might Affect Society." Commissioned by the Global Science Forum for the Workshop on Near Earth Objects: Risks, Policies, and Actions, Frascati, Italy. January 09, 2003. ⁸⁸ UNDP Disaster Management Training Program. GE.94-02897. "Disaster Preparedness." 2nd Edition. 1994.

⁸⁹ Robert Roy Britt. "NASA's New Asteroid Sentry Stands Watch." Space.Com, March 14, 2002.

http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/solarsystem/asteroid_sentry_020314.html

⁾ Ibid.

⁹¹ Ibid.

⁹² David Morrison. "AAAS Post-Symposium Comments." NASA Ames Research Center News, February 25, 2003. http://nai.arc.nasa.gov/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=122

Robert Roy Britt. "Asteroid No Threat, Despite Rumors of Earth Impact." Space.Com, August 23, 2001. http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/solarsystem/asteroid_threat_010823.html

94 Ibid.

⁹⁵ Brendan Mulligan and Clark Chapman. "Communicating about Cosmic Catastrophes." 2002. http://www.boulder.swri.edu/clark/bmmmitex.doc ⁹⁶ "Worried asteroid-watchers wrangle over alert system" Agence France-Presse. October 28, 2003.

http://www.spacedaily.com/2003/031028032043.ajjj4cj5.html

Brendan Mulligan and Clark Chapman. "Communicating about Cosmic Catastrophes." 2002. http://www.boulder.swri.edu/clark/bmmmitex.doc ⁹⁸ David L. Chandler. "Assessing and Reporting Impact Risks." *Sky & Telescope*, September 06, 2002.

⁹⁹ Steven R. Chesley, et.al. "Quantifying the risk posed by potential Earth impacts" *Icarus* 159, 423-432 (2002).

¹⁰⁰ Brendan Mulligan and Clark Chapman. "Communicating about Cosmic Catastrophes." 2002. http://www.boulder.swri.edu/clark/bmmmitex.doc 101 Ibid.

¹⁰² GE.94-02897. Disaster Preparedness 2nd Edition. UNDP Disaster Management Training Programme 1994. ¹⁰³ John Twigg, et.al. "Guidance Notes On Participation And Accountability." Benfield Greig Hazard Research Centre. London, UK. March 2001.

¹¹⁰ Ibid.

¹¹¹ Weiss, Carol. "Media report card for social science." Society 22: 39-47. 1985.

¹¹³ Clark R. Chapman. "How a Near-Earth Object Impact Might Affect Society." Commissioned by the Global Science Forum for the Workshop on Near Earth Objects: Risks, Policies, and Actions, Frascati, Italy. January 09, 2003. ¹¹⁴ David Morrison. "AAAS Post-Symposium Comments." NASA Ames Research Center News, February 25, 2003. http://nai.arc.nasa.gov/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=122

¹¹⁵ Ibid.

¹¹⁷ Clark Chapman. "AAAS Post-Symposium Comments." NASA Ames Research Center News, February 25, 2003. http://nai.arc.nasa.gov/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=122

Ibid.

¹²¹ J. Kelly Beatty. "Threatening Asteroid Aids Planetary Prognosticators." *Sky and Telescope*, April 4, 2002.

¹²² J. D. Giorgini, et. al. "Asteroid 1950 DA's Encounter with Earth in 2880: Physical Limits of Collision Probability Prediction" Science Vol. 296. April 05, 2002. pp. 132-136.

¹²³ Amanda Onion. 'Armageddon 2880?' ABC News, April 04, 2002. http://abcnews.go.com/sections/scitech/DailyNews/asteroid020404.html

¹²⁴ Ibid.

¹²⁵ Dr. David Whitehouse. "Asteroid could hit Earth in 2880." BBC News, April 05, 2002. http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/sci/tech/1910518.stm

¹²⁶ Amanda Onion. 'Armageddon 2880?' ABC News, April 04, 2002. http://abcnews.go.com/sections/scitech/DailyNews/asteroid020404.html

J. Kelly Beatty. "Threatening Asteroid Aids Planetary Prognosticators." Sky and Telescope, April 4, 2002.

¹²⁸ IAU Statement prepared by David Morrison, March 14, 1998. <u>http://www.iau.org/IAU/FAQ/xf11.html</u>

¹²⁹ Brian G. Marsden. International Astronomical Union, Circular No. 6837. March 11, 1998.

¹³⁰ David Morrison. "The Close Approach of 1997XF11." NASA Ames Research Center 1998 News Archive. http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/news/1998/mar/16.html ¹³¹ Ibid.

¹³² Ibid.

¹³³ IAU Statement prepared by Dr. David Morrison, March 14, 1998. <u>http://www.iau.org/IAU/FAQ/xf11.html</u> ¹³⁴ Ibid.

¹³⁵ Robert Roy Britt. "NASA's New Asteroid Sentry Stands Watch." Space.Com, March 14, 2002.

http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/solarsystem/asteroid_sentry_020314.html.

¹³⁶ Robert Roy Britt, "The Torino Scale: Disaster Yardstick in Search of a Role." Space.Com, November 04, 1999. http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/planetearth/torino_scale_991103.html

Robert Roy Britt. "The Torino Scale: Disaster Yardstick in Search of a Role." Space.Com, November 04, 1999. http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/planetearth/torino_scale_991103.html

¹³⁸ Ibid.

¹³⁹ AIAA Position Paper. "Dealing With The Threat Of An Asteroid Striking The Earth." April 1990

¹⁴⁰ EXN.ca (Discovery Channel Canada). "The Truth Behind The Doomsday Asteroid." April 14, 1999.

¹⁴¹ EXN.ca (Discovery Channel Canada). "The Truth Behind The Doomsday Asteroid." April 14, 1999.

¹⁴² Andrea Milani and Steven R. Chesley. "Close Approaches of Asteroid 1999 AN10: Resonant and Non Resonant Returns" Dipartimento di Matematica, Università di Pisa. May 12, 1999. http://copernico.dm.unipi.it/~milani/resret/

¹⁴³ Benny Peiser. "Asteroid 1999 An10 On Potential Collision Course With Earth In 2039 - And Nobody Seems Willing To Inform The Public" CCNet SPECIAL: April 13, 1999 http://abob.libs.uga.edu/bobk/ccc/cc041399.html ¹⁴⁴ Ibid.

¹⁴⁶ Ibid.

¹⁰⁴ United Nations Disaster Management Training Program. "The News Media and Humanitarian Action." Adapted from Minear, Scott, and Weiss, 1st Edition, 1997.

¹⁰⁵ Ibid.

¹⁰⁶ Ibid.

¹⁰⁷ Clark R. Chapman. "How a Near-Earth Object Impact Might Affect Society." Commissioned by the Global Science Forum for the Workshop on Near Earth Objects: Risks, Policies, and Actions, Frascati, Italy. January 09, 2003. ¹⁰⁸ E.L. Ouarantelli. "A Preliminary Statement on the Different Worlds of Science and Mass Communications:

Implications For Information Flow Between Them." Disaster Research Center, University of Deleware. October 1990. ¹⁰⁹ Ibid.

¹¹² David L. Chandler. "Assessing and Reporting Impact Risks." Sky & Telescope, September 06, 2002.

¹¹⁶ Ibid.

David L. Chandler. "Assessing and Reporting Impact Risks." Sky & Telescope, September 06, 2002.

¹¹⁹ Geoffrey Sommer. "Policy Frameworks For Impact Mitigation." presented at the NEO Impact Symposium & Secrecy Issues. NASA Ames 2003 Archive. February 25, 2003. http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/

¹⁴⁵ David Morrison "The Case of NEO 1999AN10." NASA Ames Research Center News, April 19, 1999. http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/news/1999/apr/21.html

¹⁴⁹ Compiled from information gathered through meteorobs.org at <u>http://www.meteorobs.org/maillist/msg21939.html</u> and http://www.meteorobs.org/maillist/msg13298.html as well as Skyway, Inc at:

Richard Stenger. "Whew! Stealth Asteroid Nearly Blindsides Earth" CNN.Com. March 19, 2002.

¹⁵¹ Clark R. Chapman. "How a Near-Earth Object Impact Might Affect Society." Commissioned by the Global Science Forum for the Workshop on Near Earth Objects: Risks, Policies, and Actions, Frascati, Italy. January 09, 2003. ¹⁵² Clark Chapman. "Perspectives On The Impact Hazard in a Dangerous World." presented at the NEO Impact

Symposium & Secrecy Issues. NASA Ames 2003 Archive. February 25, 2003. <u>http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/</u>¹⁵³ Ibid.

¹⁵⁴ Frederick M. Walter. "AST-248: The Search for Life in the Universe." Stony Brook University. Spring 2002.,http://www.ess.sunysb.edu/fwalter/AST248/neo.html

¹⁵⁵ Clark R. Chapman. "How a Near-Earth Object Impact Might Affect Society." Commissioned by the Global Science Forum for the Workshop on Near Earth Objects: Risks, Policies, and Actions, Frascati, Italy, January 09, 2003. ¹⁵⁶ Robert Roy Britt. "Asteroid Buzzes Earth, Highlighting Cosmic Blind Spot." Space.Com, March 19, 2002. http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/solarsystem/asteroids miss 020319.html

David Morrison. "Confusion on 2002 NT7." NEO News. July 25, 2002.

http://www.spaceref.com/news/viewsr.html?pid=6070

Ibid.

¹⁵⁹ David Whithouse. "Space Rock 'On Collision Course." (ORIGINAL STORY FOR 2002NT7) BBC News, July 24, 2002. http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/science/nature/2147879.stm

¹⁶⁰ Robert Roy Britt. "NASA Scientists Call British Media's Asteroid Hype Unethical Rubbish." Space.Com, July 29, 2002. http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/asteroid_scare_020729-1.html

¹⁶¹ Nanni Riccobono. "A worm in Manhattan or the end of the world?" *Tumbling Stone* 15, June 27, 2002. http://spaceguard.esa.int/tumblingstone/issues/num15/eng/main.htm

David Morrison. "2002 NT7: Media Splash but No Threat." NASA Ames Research Center News, August 12, 2002. <u>http://128.102.38.40/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=117</u> ¹⁶³ Robert Roy Britt. "NASA Scientists Call British Media's Asteroid Hype Unethical Rubbish." Space.Com, July 29,

2002. http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/asteroid_scare_020729-1.html

¹⁶⁴ Clark Chapman. "Perspectives On The Impact Hazard in a Dangerous World." presented at the NEO Impact Symposium & Secrecy Issues. NASA Ames 2003 Archive. February 25, 2003. http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/

¹⁶⁵ Robert Roy Britt. "NASA Scientists Call British Media's Asteroid Hype Unethical Rubbish." Space.Com, July 29, 2002. http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/asteroid_scare_020729-1.html

¹⁶⁶ David L. Chandler. "Assessing and Reporting Impact Risks." Sky & Telescope, September 06, 2002

¹⁶⁷ Nanni Riccobono. "A worm in Manhattan or the end of the world?" *Tumbling Stone* 15, June 27, 2002. http://spaceguard.esa.int/tumblingstone/issues/num15/eng/main.htm

¹⁶⁸ David Morrison. "2002 NT7: Media Splash but No Threat." NASA Ames Research Center News, August 12, 2002. http://128.102.38.40/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=117

¹⁶⁹ Richard Stenger. "Asteroid Update: End of the World on Hold." CNN.com. September 05, 2003. http://www.cnn.com/2003/TECH/space/09/05/asteroid.miss/

¹⁷⁰ Ibid.

¹⁷¹ Alan Boyle. "Asteroid strike ruled out for 2014." MSNBC.com. September 02, 2003. http://www.msnbc.com/news/960340.asp?0cv=TB10&cp1=1

Ibid.

¹⁷³ David Morrison. "2003 QQ47: Another Pointless Asteroid Scare." NASA Ames 2003 Archive. September 03, 2003. http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/

¹⁷⁴ "Row erupts over asteroid scares." New Scientist 20, September 2003.

http://www.eurekalert.org/pub_releases/2003-09/ns-reo091703.php¹⁷⁵ Ibid.

¹⁷⁶ Alan Boyle. "Asteroid strike ruled out for 2014." MSNBC.com. September 02, 2003.

 $\frac{\text{http://www.msnbc.com/news/960340.asp?0cv=TB10\&cp1=1}{177}$ Carl T. Hall. "The Day The Earth Was Not Threatened By An Asteroid." San Francisco Chronicle. February 26, 2004.

¹⁷⁸ International Astronomical Union Working Group On NEOs. "WGNEO Statement On Dealing With Short-Term Impact Predictions, Information on Near Earth Object AL00667." February 19, 2004. http://web.mit.edu/rpb/wgneo/al00667.html

¹⁷⁹ Ibid.

¹⁸⁰ Clark Chapman. "NEO Impact Scenarios" presented at the AIAA Planetary Defense Conference. February 22, 2004.

¹⁴⁷ Ibid.

¹⁴⁸ Ibid.

http://hometown.aol.com/skywayinc/index.html All accessed February 24, 2002.

¹⁸¹ International Astronomical Union Working Group On NEOs. "WGNEO Statement On Dealing With Short-Term Impact Predictions, Information on Near Earth Object AL00667." February 19, 2004. <u>http://web.mit.edu/rpb/wgneo/al00667.html</u>

¹⁸³ Brian G. Marsden. "The Saga Of Asteroid AL00667 = 2004 AS1." Originally published on CCNet, January 15, 2004 – taken from NASA Ames 2004 Archive. <u>http://128.102.38.40/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=135</u>

¹⁸⁴ David Whitehouse. "Earth Almost Put On Impact Alert." BBC News Online. February 24, 2004. http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/science/nature/3517319.stm

¹⁸⁵ Bill Allen and Sally Beach. "No-so-close call." Major News About Minor Objects. February 09, 2004. http://www.hohmanntransfer.com/mn/0402/09.htm#bits

¹⁸⁶ Clark Chapman. "NEO Impact Scenarios" presented at the AIAA Planetary Defense Conference. February 22, 2004.

¹⁸⁷ International Astronomical Union Working Group On NEOs. "WGNEO Statement On Dealing With Short-Term Impact Predictions, Information on Near Earth Object AL00667." February 19, 2004. http://web.mit.edu/rpb/wgneo/al00667.html

¹⁸⁸ AP Wire. "Asteroid Too Close for Comfort." *Times of India*. March 18, 2004. http://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/articleshow/568952.cms

¹⁸⁹ NASA/JPL NEO Program. Asteroid 2004FH. Retrieved from Space.Com, March 19, 2004. http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/asteroid_flewby_040319.html

¹⁹⁰ Robert Roy Britt. "Earth Safe From Ultra-Close Flyby Today." Space.Com, March 18, 2004. http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/asteroid_flyby_040318.html

¹⁹¹ Robert Roy Britt. "Earth Safe From Ultra-Close Flyby Today." Space.Com, March 18, 2004. http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/asteroid_flyby_040318.html

¹⁹² Leonard David. "Earth At Risk: New Calls For Planetary Defense." Space.Com. February 25, 2004. http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/planetary_defense_040225.html

¹⁹³ Clark R. Chapman. "How a Near-Earth Object Impact Might Affect Society." Commissioned by the Global Science Forum for the Workshop on Near Earth Objects: Risks, Policies, and Actions, Frascati, Italy. January 09, 2003.
¹⁹⁴ Ibid.

¹⁹⁵ Ibid.

¹⁹⁶ E.L. Quarantelli. 'Technological and Natural Disasters and Ecological Problems: Similarities and Differences in Planning for and Managing Them.' Presented at the Colloquium on Challenges of Technological and Ecological Disasters, Mexico City, Mexico. May 11, 1993.

¹⁹⁷ Ibid.

¹⁹⁸ Ibid.

¹⁹⁹ Ibid.

²⁰⁰ Ibid.

²⁰¹ Alerting America: Effective Risk Communication - Summary of the Natural Disasters Roundtable. National Academies Press. October 31, 2002 (2003) <u>http://books.nap.edu/html/ndr/alerting_america.pdf</u>
 ²⁰² Ibid

 203 Ibid.

²⁰⁴ UN International Strategy for Disaster Reduction Secretariat (ISDR). "Living With Risk." Preliminary version, July 2002. <u>http://www.unisdr.org/unisdr/Globalreport.htm</u>

²⁰⁵ Ibid. ²⁰⁶ NAS

²⁰⁶ NASA/JPL NEO Program, Frequently Asked Questions. <u>http://neo.jpl.nasa.gov/faq/</u>
 ²⁰⁷ Ibid.

²⁰⁸ 108th CONGRESS, 2d Session. H. R. 3813. "George R. Brown Near-Earth Object Survey Act"

²⁰⁹ David Morrison. "Congressional Bills Supporting NEO Surveys." NASA Ames Research Center News. March 26, 2004. <u>http://nai.arc.nasa.gov/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=138</u>

²¹⁰ Hearings On The Threat Of Near-Earth Asteroids (NEAs) Before The Subcommittee On Space And Aeronautics, House Committee On Science, October 3, 2002.

²¹¹ NASA/JPL NEO Program, Frequently Asked Questions. <u>http://neo.jpl.nasa.gov/faq/</u>

²¹² United States Department of Commerce, NOAA. "Hurricanes, Unleashing Natures Fury. A Preparedness Guide." Revised August 2001. <u>http://www.nws.noaa.gov/om/brochures/hurr.pdf</u>

²¹³ Richard P. Binzel. "Asteroid Futures." American Geologic Institute. *GeoTimes*, January 2004.
 ²¹⁴ Ibid.

²¹⁵ NOAA Website. "The Saffir-Simpson Hurricane Scale" <u>http://www.nhc.noaa.gov/aboutsshs.shtml</u> ²¹⁶ Ibid.

²¹⁷ NOAA, National Weather Service Website. NWS Mission Statement. <u>http://www.nws.noaa.gov/mission.shtml</u>

²¹⁸ National Weather Service. 'Eye on the Sky.' *National Weather Service Newsletter*, Volume 1, Issue 4. 2000.

²¹⁹ United States Department of Commerce, NOAA. "Hurricanes, Unleashing Natures Fury. A Preparedness Guide." Revised August 2001. <u>http://www.nws.noaa.gov/om/brochures/hurr.pdf</u>

¹⁸²Ibid.

²²⁰ NOAA Emergency Managers Information Network Presentation.

NOAA/NWS Tropical Prediction Center Information. "Hurricane Computer Models"

http://www.hurricanewarning.net/hurricane_model.html

²²⁴ NOAA, National Weather Service Website. NWS Mission Statement. <u>http://www.nws.noaa.gov/mission.shtml</u>

²²⁵ USGS. "Priorities of the Volcano Hazard Program 1999-2003." Obtained from USGS Website February 18, 2004: http://volcanoes.usgs.gov/Products/1999_5Year.html

²²⁷ USGS Earthquake Hazards Program. "USGS Earthquake Magnitude Policy." Obtained from USGS Website February 18, 2004. http://earthquake.usgs.gov/docs/020204mag policy.html

²²⁸ Ibid.

²²⁹ USGS. "The Severity of an Earthquake." United States GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE: 1989-288-913. 1989.

²³⁰ Ibid.

²³¹ Ibid.

²³² USGS Astrogeology Research Program. "Mission Statement." February 12, 2002.

http://astrogeology.usgs.gov/About/

²³⁴ Federal Emergency Management Agency, "Who We Are." <u>http://www.fema.gov/about/who.shtm</u>

- ²³⁵ Federal Emergency Management Agency, "What We Do." <u>http://www.fema.gov/about/what.shtm</u>
- ²³⁶ Ibid.

²³⁷ Michael Belton, et al. "Final Report of the NASA Workshop on Scientific Requirements for Mitigation of Hazardous Comets and Asteroids." Arlington, VA. September 3-6, 2002. http://www.noao.edu/meetings/mitigation/workshop_report_final.html

Ibid.

²³⁹ Keith Cowing. "Asteroid Threat Discussed by US Congress" SpaceRef.Com. October 04, 2002. http://www.spaceref.com/news/viewnews.html?id=509

²⁴⁰ David Morrison. "Planetary Defense Conference: Protecting the Earth from Asteroids." NASA Ames Research Center News, March 01, 2004. http://128.102.38.40/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=139 ²⁴¹ Ibid.

²⁴² Statement Of Brigadier General Simon P. Worden, Deputy Director For Operations, United States Strategic Command Before The House Science Committee Space And Aeronautics Subcommittee On Near-Earth Object Threat October 3, 2002. http://www.house.gov/science/hearings/space02/oct03/worden.htm

²⁴³ Ibid.

²⁴⁴ Ibid.

²⁴⁵ Ibid.

²⁴⁶ Ibid.

²⁴⁷ Bill Allen and Sally Beach. "Pete Worden: "The Billy Mitchell Of NEOs." September 08, 2002. http://www.hohmanntransfer.com/news/0209.htm#worden 248 Lt Col Rex R. Kiziah, "Air Force and NASA Activities To Address The Threat of Asteroid/Comet-Earth Impacts."

May 02, 2000. http://www.airpower.maxwell.af.mil/airchronicles/cc/kiziah.html

²⁵¹ IAU, Commission 20 Report. "Commission 20: Positions And Motions Of Minor Planets, Comets And Satellites" October 1999. http://www.astro.uu.se/IAU/c20/trienn.html

²⁵³ Ibid.

²⁵⁴ NASA/JPL. "NEO Program Discovery Statistics." July 2004. <u>http://neo.jpl.nasa.gov/stats/</u>

²⁵⁵ IAU Website. "Minor Planet Center (MPC)." <u>http://cfa-www.harvard.edu/iau/mpc.html</u>

²⁵⁶ Ibid.

²⁵⁷ Bruce Koehn quoted by Robert Roy Britt. "Asteroid Discoveries May Outpace Ability to Assess Threat to Earth." Space.Com, October 19, 2001. <u>http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/solarsystem/asteroid_toomany_011019-2.html</u> ²⁵⁸ Ibid.

²⁵⁹ J.R. Tate, Spaceguard UK Report, Executive Summary, September 2000.

http://star.arm.ac.uk/impact-hazard/Spacegd95-2.PDF 260Ibid.

http://www.crh.noaa.gov/emwin/crest5_01/index.html

NOAA/NWS Tropical Prediction Center Information. "Hurricane Computer Models" http://www.hurricanewarning.net/hurricane_model.html

NOAA Emergency Managers Information Network Presentation.

http://www.crh.noaa.gov/emwin/crest5_01/index.html

Michael Gaffey. Extraterrestrial Resources, Asteroid Compositions Lecture, University of North Dakota. Spring 2003

²⁴⁹ İbid. ²⁵⁰ Ibid.

²⁵² Ibid.

²⁶⁷ Vadim A. Simonenko. "Comments from the Space Shield Foundation." NASA Ames Research Center, NEO News Archive. 2000. <u>http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/news/2000/december/22.html</u> ²⁶⁸ Anatoly V. Zaitsev. "Development Of The Planetary Defense System." Delivered to the Space Protection Of The

Earth Conference- 96 ("SPE-96") September 23-27, 1996. http://impact.arc.nasa.gov/news/2000/december/22.html ²⁶⁹ Sagan, C. and S. Ostro 1994. Dangers of asteroid deflection. *Nature* 369, 501.

270 United Nations Office of Outer Space Affairs Document A/AC.105/819. "International cooperation in the peaceful uses of outer space: activities of international organizations that have contributed to implementing the recommendations of the Third United Nations Conference on the Exploration and

Peaceful Uses of Outer Space" December 03, 2003. http://www.oosa.unvienna.org/Reports/AC105_819E.pdf 271 Ibid.

272 Ibid.

²⁷³ Thomas Mitchell. "An Operational Framework For Mainstreaming Disaster Risk Reduction." Benfield Hazard Research Centre. Disaster Studies Working Paper 8. November 2003.

²⁷⁴ Ibid.

²⁷⁵ Kathleen J. Tierney. "Socio-Economic Aspects of Hazard Mitigation." Paper prepared for the Research Seminar on Socio-Economic Aspects of Disaster in Central America, San Josa, Costa Rica. January 1993.

²⁷⁶ E. L. Quarantelli. "Disaster Planning, Emergency Management And Civil Protection: The Historical Development Of Organized Efforts To Plan For And To Respond To Disasters." Disaster Research Center, University of Delaware. 1995.

²⁷⁷ Ibid.

²⁷⁸ Comments from Salibo SOME (Directeur Exécutif, Africa's Sustainable Development Council) during The Secretariat of the International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (UN/ISDR) and the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) On-Line Conference to guide and monitor disaster risk reduction. August 25 to September 26, 2003.

²⁷⁹ Robert Roy Britt. "Asteroids And Secrecy: If End Is Nigh, Do You Want To Know?" Space.com, February 24, 2003 http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/asteroid_secrecy_030224.html

²⁸⁰ Garshnek, et.al. "The Mitigation, Management, And Survivability Of Asteroid/Comet Impact With Earth" Space Policy 16 (2000) 213-222.

²⁸¹ See (Ahrens and Harris, 1992, 1994; Simonenko et al., 1994; Melosh et al., 1994; Morrison and Teller, 1994; Weissman, 1994; Asphaug et al., 1998; Benz and Asphaug, 1999, etc.)

²⁸² Morrison, et al. "Dealing With the Impact Hazard" Asteroids III, p. 739-754. 2002.

²⁸³ William Ailor, "AIAA Position Paper on Planetary Defense" April 5, 2004

http://nai.arc.nasa.gov/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=139

²⁸⁴ Ibid.

²⁸⁵ Morrison, et al. "Dealing With the Impact Hazard" <u>Asteroids III</u>, p. 739-754. 2002. ²⁸⁶ Ibid.

²⁸⁷ United States Office of Science and Technology Policy. "About the National Science and Technology Council." 2004. http://www.ostp.gov/NSTC/html/NSTC_Home.html

²⁸⁸ Morrison, et al. "Dealing With the Impact Hazard" <u>Asteroids III</u>, p. 739-754. 2002.

²⁸⁹ Ibid.

²⁹⁰ William Ailor, "AIAA Position Paper on Planetary Defense" April 5, 2004 http://nai.arc.nasa.gov/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=139

²⁹¹ NASA Near-Earth Object Science Definition Team. "Study to Determine the Feasibility of Extending the Search for Near-Earth Objects to Smaller Limiting Diameters" August 22, 2003. http://neo.jpl.nasa.gov/neo/neoreport030825.pdf ²⁹² Ibid.

²⁹³ Keith Cowing. "Asteroid Threat Discussed by US Congress" SpaceRef.Com. October 04, 2002.

http://www.spaceref.com/news/viewnews.html?id=509

William Ailor, "AIAA Position Paper on Planetary Defense" April 5, 2004 http://nai.arc.nasa.gov/impact/news_detail.cfm?ID=139

²⁹⁸ Ibid.

²⁶¹ Spaceguard UK, "How Is The British Government Doing?" <u>http://www.spaceguarduk.com/recommendations.htm</u> ²⁶² J.R. Tate, Spaceguard UK Report, Executive Summary, September 2000.

http://star.arm.ac.uk/impact-hazard/Spacegd95-2.PDF ²⁶³ Spaceguard UK, "How is the British Government Doing?" <u>http://www.spaceguarduk.com/recommendations.htm</u> ²⁶⁴ David Morrison. 'Space Protection of the Earth Conference, September 23-26 1997 NEO News, October 1996. ²⁶⁵ Ibid.

²⁶⁶ Ibid.

Ibid.

²⁹⁶ Ibid. ²⁹⁷ Ibid.

²⁹⁹ Morrison, et al. "Dealing With the Impact Hazard" Asteroids III, p. 739-754. 2002.

³⁰⁰ Ibid.

³⁰¹ National Science and Technology Council Committee on the Environment and Natural Resources. "Reducing Disaster Vulnerability Through Science and Technology." Interim Report of the Subcommittee on Disaster Reduction.

July 2003. ³⁰² Demuth, Julie L. "Countering Terrorism: Lessons Learned from Natural and Technological Disasters" Summary to the Natural Disasters Roundtable -February 28-March 1, 2002, National Academy of Sciences, National Academies the Natural Disasters Roundtable -February 28-March 1, 2002, National Academy of Sciences, National Academies Press, Washington, DC, 2002, p. 1. ³⁰³ Garshnek, et.al. "The Mitigation, Management, And Survivability Of Asteroid/Comet Impact With Earth" *Space Policy* 16 (2000) 213-222. ³⁰⁴ Ibid. ³⁰⁵ Ibid. ³⁰⁶ Ibid. ³⁰⁷ Ibid. ³⁰⁸ Ibid. ³⁰⁹ Ibid. ³¹⁰ Ibid.